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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT L
To the Members of Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited (hereinafter
referred to as “the Holding Company™) and its subsidiary (the Holding Company and its subsidiary together referred to
as “the Group”) comprising of the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, the Consolidated Statement of Profit
and Loss, including the statement of Other comprehensive income, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow and the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the
consolidated financial statements™).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the
consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other financial information of the
subsidiary, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as
amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles
generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2024, their consolidated profit
including other comprehensive income, their consolidated cash flows and the consolidated changes in equity for the year
ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), as
specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the
‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the Group, in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements under
the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 28(b)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements, in connection with an ongoing litigation
relating to assessment of property tax. Pending ultimate outcome of the matter, no adjustments have been made in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Information

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Directors’ report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

5.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, a Limited Lability Partnership with LLP Identity No. AaB-2295
Regd. Office : 22, Camac Street, Block ‘B, 3rd Fioor, Kolkata-700 016




S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in terms of the requirements of the Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated cash flows and
consolidated changes in equity of the Group in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in
the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act
for safeguarding of the assets of their respective companies and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were
operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation
and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the
Group are responsible for assessing the ability of their respective companies to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are also responsible for overseeing the
financial reporting process of their respective companies.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

*  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our
opinion on whether the Holding Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated
financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that m ay cast significant
doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
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*  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group of which we are the independent auditors, to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent
auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by other
auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried
out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Other Matter

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information, in respect of one subsidiary, whose financial
statements include total assets of Rs. 13,906 lakhs as at March 31, 2024, and total revenues of Rs. 5,925 lakhs and net
cash outflows of Rs. 147 lakhs for the year ended on that date. These financial statements and other financial information
have been audited by other auditors, which financial statements, other financial information and auditor’s reports have
been furnished to us by the management. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to
the amounts and disclosures included in respect of this subsidiary and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section
143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiary, is based solely on the reports of such other auditors.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of
such other auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (*the Order”), issued by the Central Government of
India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of
the other auditors on separate financial statements and the other financial information of the subsidiary, incorporated
in India, as noted in the “other matter’ paragraph, we give in the “Annexure 1 a statement on the matters specified in
paragraph 3(xxi) of the Order,

2. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the other auditors
on separate financial statements and the other financial information of subsidiary, as noted in the ‘other matter’
paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We/the other auditors whose report we have relied upon have sought and obtained all the information and
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the
aforesaid consolidated financial statements;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidation
of the financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and reports
of the other auditors, except for the matters stated in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements with respect
to Holding Company that the backup of the books of account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
mode with respect to individual hotel units of the Holding Company has not been maintained on servers
physically located in India on daily basis and for the matters stated in the paragraph (j)(vi) below on reporting
under Rule 11(g).

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow and Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account maintained for the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements;
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(d)
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(f)

(2)

(h)
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In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified
under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended:

The matter described in Emphasis of Matter paragraph above, in our opinion, may have an adverse effect on the
functioning of the Group;

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on March 31,
2024 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of the statutory auditors
who are appointed under Section 139 of the Act, of its subsidiary company, none of the directors of the Group’s
companies, incorporated in India, is disqualified as on March 31, 2024 from being appointed as a director in
terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

The modification relating fo the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith are as stated in
paragraph (b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and paragraph (j)(vi) below on reporting under Rule
11{(g);

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements
of the Holding Company and its subsidiary company, incorporated in India, and the operating effectiveness of
such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure 2” to this report;

The Holding Company and its subsidiary have not paid any managerial remuneration during the year and hence,
provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act are not applicable to the Holding Company and its
subsidiary for the year ended March 31, 2024;

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the report of the other auditors on
separate financial statements as also the other financial information of the subsidiary, as noted in the ‘Other
matter’ paragraph:

i.  The Group has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its consolidated financial position in its
consolidated financial statements — Refer Note 28(b) to the consolidated financial statements:

ii.  The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any
provision for material foreseeable losses;

lii.  There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection
Fund by the Holding Company and its subsidiary during the year ended March 31, 2024;

iv. a) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary which is incorporated in India
whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us and the other auditors
of such subsidiary that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in note 36(v) to the consolidated
financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or
share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding Company or its subsidiary to or in
any other persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries’), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediaries shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest
in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the respective Holding
Company or its subsidiary (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

b) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary which is incorporated in India
whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us and the other auditors
of such subsidiary that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in note 36(vi) to the consolidated
financial statements, no funds have been received by the respective Holding Company or its subsidiary
from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties™), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company or its subsidiary shall, whether, directly or
indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of
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c)

the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries: and

Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances
performed by us and that performed by the auditors of the subsidiary which is incorporated in India whose
financial statements have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our or other auditor’s notice that
has caused us or the other auditors to believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain
any material mis-statement.

v) No dividend has been declared or paid by the Holding Company or its subsidiary incorporated in India;

vi) Based on our examination which included test checks and that performed by the respective auditors of the

subsidiary, which is a company incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under
the Act, the Group has used accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature
of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant
transactions recorded in the accounting software except that, audit trail feature is not enabled for certain
changes made, if any, using certain access rights and in respect of individual hotel units of the Holding
Company wherein its accounting software did not have the audit trail feature enabled throughout the year,
as described in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Further, during the course of audit, we and
the respective auditors of the above referred subsidiary did not come across any instance of audit trail
feature being tampered with in respect of the accounting software.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049 W/E300004

per Sudhi

Partner

Membership Number: 213157
UDIN: 24213 157BKFNHC9981

Place: Bengaluru

ar Jain

Date: May 21, 2024
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Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph under the heading “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements” of
our report of even date on the consolidated financial statements of Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited

In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the Holding Company and the books of account
and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the best of our knowledge and belief, we state that:

(xxi) Qualifications or adverse remarks by the respective auditors in the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020
(CAROQ) reports of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements are:

Sl Name CIN Holding Clause number of
No Company/ CARO report
Subsidiary/ which is qualified
Joint Venture or is adverse
1 Brigade Hotel Ventures U74999KA2016PLC095986 Holding Company vii (b) and xix
Limited

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Regispration Number: 101049W/E300004

UDIN: 24213157BKFNHC998 1

Place: Bengaluru
Date: May 21, 2024
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Annexure 2 referred to in paragraph under the heading “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements” of
our report of even date on the consolidated financial statements of Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act,
2013 (“the Act™)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited (hereinafter
referred to as the “Holding Company”) as of and for the year ended March 31,2024, we have audited the internal financial
controls with reference to consolidated financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary (the Holding
Company and its subsidiary together referred to as “the Group™), which are companies incorporated in India, as of that
date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group which are companies incorporated in India are
responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control over financial
reporting criteria established by the Holding Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in
the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business,
including adherence to the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of
frauds and errors. the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial
information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Holding Company's internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing,
specified under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both, issued
by ICAL Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated
financial statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls
with reference to consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial
controls with reference to consolidated financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial
controls with reference to consolidated financial statements, assessing the risk thata material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of
their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

A Company's internal financial control with reference to consolidated financial statements is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A Company's internal
financial control with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Group; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
fnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the Group are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the Group: and (3)
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provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of
the Group's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference
to consolidated financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Group, which are companies incorporated in India, have maintained in all material respects, adequate
internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements and such internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2024, based on the internal
control over financial reporting criteria established by the Holding Company considering the essential components of
internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by
the ICAL

Other Matter

Our report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls
with reference to consolidated financial statements of the Holding Company, insofar as it relates to one subsidiary, which
is a company incorporated in India, is based on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such subsidiary.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

per Sudhi r Jain
Partner
Membersip Number: 213157

UDIN: 24213 157BKFNHC9981

Place: Bengaluru
Date: May 21, 2024



Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property. plant and equipment
Capital work in progress
Intangible assets
Financial assels

Investments

Other non-current financial assets
Deferred tax assets (net)
Other non-current assets
Current tax assets (net)
Sub total

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets
Loans
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Other current assets
Sub total
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity share capital
Instruments entirely equity in nature
Other equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Other non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Non-current provisions
Sub total

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
- Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises
- Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises
Other current financial liabilities
Other current liabilities
Current provisions
Sub total

Total equity and liabilities

Summary of material accounting policies

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Assaciates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm registration number; 101049W/E 04

per Sudhi Jain
Pariner

Membershp no.: 213157

Place: Bengaluru
Date; May 21, 2024

MNotes March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
31 65.082 62.674 66.813
4 7,168 2,939 2,365
32 88 132 208
3 6 6 1
T 1.052 831 683
8.1 7.816 7.912 8.006
9 154 137 219
83 555 450 406
81,921 75,081 78,701
10 591 436 257
6 - - 2
11 2,176 2,069 1,255
12,1 798 776 1,178
12.2 1.228 2,325 2.091
7 287 211 121
9 1.677 3.169 3.304
6,757 8,986 8,208
88,678 84,067 86,909
13.1 100 100 100
132 28,193 28,193 28.193
14.1 (21,589) (24.082) (24.279)
6,704 4,211 4,014
14.2 1,197 569 492
7,901 4,780 4,506
15 54913 30,105 58,732
29 11,834 6,752 6,629
16 209 206 173
18 878 894 -
17 109 48 89
67,943 58,045 65,623
15 5,206 13,145 9.813
19
136 95 96
2,597 3,050 1.796
16 3,104 3,292 3,340
18 1,648 1,557 1.671
17 143 103 64
12,834 21,242 16,780
88,678 84,067 86,909
2.1

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of®

Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
IN: U74999KA2016PLCO95986

Vineet \*74‘
Director

DIN: 06362115

MW

Ananda Natarajan
Chief Financial Officer

et b

P Shivaleela Reddy
Company Secreta

Bengalury | @'
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Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Losss for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

Notes March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Income
Revenue from operations 20 40,170 35,022
Other income 21 315 619
Total income (i) 40,485 35,641
Expenses
Cost of materials consumed 22 4.034 3,508
Employee benefits expense 23 7.626 6,331
Depreciation and amortization expenses 24 4.364 4935
Finance costs 25 6.889 6,917
Other expenses 26 14,364 15,504
Total expenses (ii) 37,271 37,195
Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax (iii) = (i) - (ii) 3,208 (1,554)
Exceptional items
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment 31 - (1,100)
Total Exceptional items (iv) - (1,100)
Profit/(loss) before tax (v) = (iii) - (iv) 3,208 (454)
Tax expense 8.2
Current tax - -
Deferred tax charge/(credit) 94 (145)
Total tax expense (vi) 94 (145)
Profit/(loss) for the year (vii) = (v) - (vi) 3,114 (309)
Other comprehensive income
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit plans 9 22
Income tax effect - credit/(charge) (2) (7)
Other comprehensive income ("OCT') (viii) 7 15
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year (ix) = (vii) + (viii) 3,121 (294)
Profit/(loss) for the year atiributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 2.487 (384)
Non-Controlling interests 627 5
Other comprehensive income ('OCI') for the vear attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 6 13
Non-Controlling interests 1 2
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 2,493 (371)
Non-Controlling interests 628 77
Earnings/(loss) per share ("EPS') attributable to equity holders of the Parent: 27
[nominal value of share Rs.10 (March 31. 2023: Rs.10)]
Basic EPS (Rs.) 0.88 (0.14)
Diluted EPS (Rs.) (.88 (0.14)
Summary of material accounting policies 2.1
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the conselidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date
For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 IN: U74999KA2016PLC095986

per Sudh r Jain Direci

Partner

Plice: Bengaluru ' " Ananda Natarajan
Date: May 21, 2024 Chief Financial Officer Com

Vineet Vérma

DIN: 06362115~ DIN; 02750342

MembersHip no.: 213157 N> “H‘ wE : M}-’V PJ{M‘M

P Shivaleela Reddy




Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cashflow for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

Noles March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/ (loss) before tax 3,208 (434)
Adjustment to reconcile profit/ (loss) before tax to net cash flows:
Diepreciation and amortization expense 24 4,364 4,935
Impairment allowance for bad and doubtful debts 26 - 73
Reversal of impairment loss of property. plant and equipment 31 - (1,100)
Reversal of impairment aliowance for bad and doubtful debts 21 {59) -
Government Grants - Capital subsidy 21 (18) (16)
(Profit)/Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 21,26 192 (381)
Interest expense 25 6.889 6.917
Interest income 21 (192) (175)
Operating profit before working capital changes 14,386 9,799
Movements in working capital :
{Decrease) / increase in trade payables (412) 1,254
(Decrease) / increase in other labilities 270 779
(Decrease) / increase in provisions 70 60
(Increase) / decrease in inventories {155) (179)
(Increase) / decrease in trade receivable (48) (886)
(Increase) / decrease in loans - 2
(Increase) / decrease in other assets 1.480 102
Cash generated from operations 15,591 10,931
Direct taxes (paid)/refunds, net (105) (144)
Net cash flow (used in)/from operating activities (A) 15,486 10,787
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (including capital work in progress) 34 (5.548) (971)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 12 1,167
Redemption of bank deposits 1,609 2
Investment in bank deposits (800) (234)
Purchase of non current investments - (5)
Interest received 197 139
Net cash flow (used in) investing activities (B) (4.530) 98
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 11,569 2679
Repayment of borrowings (14314) (10,251}
Interest paid (4,787) (5,083)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (1.079) -
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (602) (369)
Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities (C) (9,213) (13.224)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C) 1,743 (2,339)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (1.348) 991
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 395 (1,348)
Components of cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 12.1 27 16
With banks - in current accounts 12.1 768 760
Cheques on hand 3 -
Total cash and cash equivalents 798 776
Less: Bank overdraft 15 (403) (2,124)
Total cash and cash equivalents reported in balance sheet 395 (1,348)

Note: Refer note 12.1 for changes in liabilities arising from financing activities and note 29 for non-cash investing and financing activities pertaining to
right-of-use assets and lease labilities, respectively. -

Summary of material accounting policies 2.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 N: UT4999KA2016PLC0O95986
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Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

A. Equity share eapital No. of shares Amount
{refer note 13.1)
Equity shares of Rs.10 each issued, subseribed and fully paid-up
As at April 01, 2022 10 100
Changes during the year & =

As at March 31, 2023 10 100
As at April 01, 2023 10 100
Changes during the year - =
As at March 31, 2024 10 100
B. Instruments entirely equity in nature No. of shares Amount

(refer note 13.2)
Optionally Convertible Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs.100/- each ("OCRPS')

As at April 01, 2022 280 28,043
Changes during the year - -
As at March 31, 2023 280 28,043
As at April 01, 2023 280 28,043
Changes during the year & =
As at March 31, 2024 280 28,043
Cumulative Compulsary Convertible Preferance Shares of Rs.100 cach (CCPS)
As at April 01, 2022 2 150
Changes during the year w -
As at March 31, 2023 2 150
As at April 01, 2023 2 150
Changes during the year - -
As at March 31, 2024 2 150

C. Other equity
(refer note 14.1 and 14.2)

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent Non- Total
Capital | Revaluation | General Equity Retained | Sub total | controling
Reserve Reserve | Reserve | component of | earnings Interest
Compound
Financial
Instruments
As at April 01, 2022 1 829 91 6,182 (31,382) (24,279) 492 (23,787)
Profit/(loss) for the year & - - = (384) (384) 75 (309)
Other comprehensive income - - - - 13 13 2 15
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (371) (371) 77 (294)
Add: Equity component of interest-free related party - - - 568 - 568 - 568
loans during the year
As at March 31, 2023 1 829 91 6,750 (31,753)] (24,082) 569 (23,513)
As at April 01, 2023 1 829 91 6,750 (31,753)| (24,082) 569 (23,513)
Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - 2.487 2,487 627 ERRE
Other comprehensive income - - - - 6 6 I 7
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 2,493 2,493 62§ 3,121
As at March 31, 2024 1 829 91 6,750 (29,260)] (21,589) 1,197 (20,392)
Summary of material accounting policies 2.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
ICAI Firm registratioffnumber: 101049 IN: U74999KA2016PLCO95986
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Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
{All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

1 Corporate information

The Consolidated financial statements comprise financial statements of Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited (CIN: UT4999K A201 6PLC095986) (‘BHVL'
or the *Company” or the *Holding Company’) and its subsidiary (collectively, the Group). The Holding Company was incorporated on August 24,
2016. The registered office of the Campany is located at 29th Floor & 30th floors, World Trade Center, Brigade Gateway Campus, 26/1, Dr Rajkumar
Road. Malleswaram-Rajajinagar, Bangalore 560 055. The Group is carrying on the hospitality business including running and managing hotels.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on May 21, 2024,
2 Basis of preparation

For periods up to and including the year ended March 31. 2023, the Holding Company did not prepare its consolidated financial statements since the
Holding Company met the conditions prescribed in Rule 6 to the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended) (the “Accounts Rules™).

The Holding Company’s securities are in the process of listing on a stock exchange in India and consequently, pursuant to the Accounts Rules, the
Holding Company adopted March 31, 2024 as reporting date for first time adoption of Indian Accounting Standard (Ind-AS) notified under the
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) (the “Ind-AS Rules”) with April 01, 2022 as the transition date for the purpose
of preparation of statutory consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2024 in accordance with Ind-AS.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under
section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and presentation requirements of Division 11
of Schedule 111 to the Companies Act, 2013 (Ind AS compliant Schedule 111), as applicable to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments) which are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee (Rs). All the values are rounded off to the nearest lakhs. except when otherwise
indicated.

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies
a)  Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary as at March 31. 2024, A subsidiary
is an entity over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to. or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its pawer to direct the relevant activities of the entity. A subsidiary is
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Consolidation procedure:

i The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control. Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the Holding Company with
those of its subsidiary. For this purpose, imcome and expenses of the subsidiary are based on the amounts of the assets and liabilities
recognised in the consolidated financial statements at the acquisition date.

ii. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and
to the non-contrelling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments
are made 1o the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All
intra-group assets and liabilitics, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

iii. Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the Holding Company’s investment in the subsidiary and the Holding Company’s portion of equity
of such subsidiary.

iv. Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
group (profits or losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and fixed assets, are eliminated
in full). Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated financial statements. Ind AS12 Income
Taxes applies to temporary differences that arise from the elimination of profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions.

V. The financial statements of the subsidiary used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to same reporting date as that of the Holding
Company, i.e., year ended on March 31st and are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar
circumstances.

Vi, Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of the subsidiary is shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit and loss,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and balance sheet respectively,

b)  Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires the management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reparied amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting

these estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, uncertainty gbewt-these assumptions
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Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the vear ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

and estimates could result in the outcomes requiring a material adjustment to the earrying amounts of assets or labilities. The effect of change in an
accounting estimate is recognized prospectively.

¢)  Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification.

An asset is treated as current when it is:

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

= Held primarily for the purposes of trading

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period. or

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months afier the reporting period
All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle

-1t is held primarily for the purposes of trading

-1t is due to be setiled within twelve months afier the reporting period, or

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months afier the reporting period
All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Group has
evaluated and considered its operating cycle as one vear and accordingly has reclassified its assets and liabilities into current and non-current.

Assets and liabilities, other than those discussed above, are classified as current to the extent they are expected to be realized/ are contractually repayable
within one year from the Balance sheet date and as non-current, in other cases,

Deferred tax assets/ liabilities are classified as non-current assets/ liabilities,
d)  Property, plant and equipment

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment loss, ifany. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing costs if’ capitalization criteria are met and
directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at
the purchase price.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.
This applies mainly to components for machinery. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied, All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in
profit or loss as incurred.

Subsequent expenditure related to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book value only if it increases the future benefits from its
previously assessed standard of performance. All other expenses on existing property, plant and equipment, including day-to-day repair and
maintenance expenditure and cost of replacing parts, are charged to the statement of profit and loss for the period during which such expenses are
incurred.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition of property, plant and equipment which take substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use are also included to the extent they relate to the period till such assets are ready to be put to use,

Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each balance sheet date is classified as capital advances under
other non-current assets.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is de-recognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement when the Property, plant and equipment is de-recognized.
Expenditure directly relating to construction activity is capitalized. Indirect expenditure incurred during construction period is capitalized to the extent
to which the expenditure is indirectly related to construction or is incidental thereto. Other indirect expenditure (including borrowing costs) incurred
during the construction periad which is neither related to the construction activity nor is incidental thereto is charged to the statement of profit and loss.
Costs of assets not ready for use at the balance sheet date are disclosed under capital work- in- progress,

e}  Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated on written down value basis using the following useful lives estimated by the management, which are equal to those
prescribed under Schedule 11 to the Companies Act, 2013

Category of Asset Useful lives (in years)
Buildings 60
Plant and machinery 15
Electrical installation and equipment 10
Furniture and fixtures
d in hotels, restaurants, etc. 8
,‘}_‘ (] \'\ y




Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

. Others 10
Computer hardware

. End user devices

. Server and network equipment
Office equipment
Motor vehicles

oo (al Ov L

For certain hotel-specific assets, depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis using the rates arrived at, based on the useful lives estimated by the
management based on technical assessment as below:

Category of Asset Useful lives Schedule 11 lives
(in years) (in years)

Buildings 25-30 60
Plant and machinery 15 15
Electrical installation and equipment 10 10
Furniture and fixtures

. Used in hotels, restaurants, ete. 8 8

. Others 10 10
Computer hardware

e End user devices 3 3

e Server and network equipment 6 6
Office equipment 5 5
Motor vehicles 8 8

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the sharter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
Leasehold land — 25 to 35 years

The management considers residual value at 5% as prescribed under Schedule 1 of Companies Act, 2013

The management believes that the above estimated useful lives are realistic and reflect fair approximation of the period over which the assets are likely
to be used.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property. plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial vear end and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.

f)  Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. if any.

Intangible assets comprising of computer software are amortized on a written down value basis over a period of six years, which is estimated by the
management to be the useful life of the asset. In case of certain hotels, the intangible assets comprising of computer software are amortized on a straight-
line basis over a period of six years as estimated by the management.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of amortization of intangible assets are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively,
iff appropriate.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when asset is derecognized.

g) Impairment

A. Financial assets

The Group assesses at each date of balance sheet whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and measures the required expected
credit losses through a loss allowance. The Group applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of impairment losses
on trade receivables. The Group follows the simplified approach for recognition of impairment allowance on trade receivables wherein, it recognises
impairment allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group recognizes lifetime expected losses for all contract assets and / or all
trade receivables that do not constitute a financing transaction.

For all other financial assets. expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit losses or at an amount equal to
the lifetime expected credit losses if the eredit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition.

B. Non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) net selling price and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset. unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount, In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining net selling price, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
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Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss, Afier impairment, depreciation is provided on the revised carrying amount of the
asset over its remaining useful life,

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist
or have decreased. I such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount, A previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined. net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years, Such reversal is recognised
in the statement of profit and loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

h}) Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is. or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Where the Group is lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach forall leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities (o make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

The Group at the inception of the lease contract recognizes a Right-of-Use (RoU) asset at cost and corresponding lease liability. except for leases with
term of less than twelve months (short term) and low-value assets. The cost of the right-of-use assels comprises the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability, any lease payments made at or before the inception date of the lease plus any initial direct costs, less any lease incentives received.
Subsequently, the right of-use assets are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The right-of-
use assets is depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date over the shorter of lease term or useful life of right-of-use assets.

For lease liabilities at inception, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date, The lease
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate is readily determined, if that rate is not readily determined, the lease
payments are discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

The Group recognizes the amount of the re-measurement of lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use assets. Where the carrying amount of
the right-of-use assets is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognizes any remaining
amount of the re-measurement in the statement of profit and loss.

The Group applies the short-lerm lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It alse applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are
considered to be low value, Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Where the Group is lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset is classified as operating leases.
Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are eamed.

1) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds,

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition. construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized/inventorised as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are charged to statement
of profit and loss.

i) Inventories

Inventories comprising of food, beverages and other items are valued at lower of cost and net realizable value, Cost of inventories is determined on a
weighted average basis.

Netrealizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

k)  Rewenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects
g the transaction



Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

price, which is the consideration, adjusted for discounts and other credits, if any. as specified in the contract with the customer. The Group presents
revenue from contracts with customers net of indirect taxes in its statement of profit and loss,

The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction
price needs to be allocated. In determining the transaction price, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence of significant
financing components, noncash consideration, and consideration payable to the customer, if any,

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Revenue from hospitality services
Revenue from hospitality operations comprise revenue from room charges, food & beverage sales, facility usage charges and allied services, including
telecommunication. laundry, etc. Revenue is recognized as and when the services are rendered and is disclosed net of allowances,

Contract balances

Contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods
or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional,

Trade receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of congideration that is unconditional (i.e.. only the passage of time is required before
payment of the consideration is due).

Contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a coniract
liability is recognised when the payment is made, or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract.

Income from lease rentals
Refer accounting policy under “Leases™ above.

hlf&.i'{.'sf income

Interest income, including income arising from other financial instruments measured at amortized cost, is recognized using the effective interest rate
(EIR) method. EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
ashorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Group estimaies the expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment, extension. call and similar options) but does not consider the expected credit losses.

Dividend incomne
Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive dividend is established, which is generally when shareholders approve the dividend.

1) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation eurrency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Company operates (“the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Foreign eurrency transactions and balances

i) Initial recognition - Foreign currency {ransactions are initially recorded at the functional currency spot rate at the date the transaction first qualifies
for recognition.

ii) Conversion - Foreign currency monetary items are retranslated using the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items, which
are measured in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, are reported using the exchange rate at the date of initial transaction. Non-
monetary items, which are measured at fair value or other similar valuation denominated in a foreign currency. are translated using the exchange rate
at the date when such value was determined.

iii) Exchange differences - The Group accounts for exchange differences arising on translation/ settlement of foreign CUrrency monetary items as
income or as expense in the period in which they arise. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively)

m) Retirement and other employee benefits

Retirement benefits in the form of state governed Employee Pravident Fund, Employee State Insurance and Employee Pension Fund Schemes are
defined contribution schemes (collectively the ‘Schemes’). The Group has no obligation, other than the contribution payable to the Schemes, The Group
recognizes contribution payable to the Schemes as expenditure, when an employee renders the related service. The contribution paid in excess of
amount due is recognized as an asset and the contribution due in excess of amount paid is recognized as a liability,

Gratuity, which is a defined benefit plan, is accrued based on an independent actuarial valuation, which is done based on project unit credit method as
at the balance sheet date. The Group recognizes the net obligation of a defined benefit plan in its balance sheet as an asset or liability. Gains and losses
through re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability/ (asset) are recognized in other comprehensive income. Remeasurements, comprising of
actuarial gains and losses, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability, are recognised immediately in the balance
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
(Al amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

sheet with a corresponding debit or credit 1o retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they oceur, Remeasurements are not reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods.

The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit and loss:
B Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements; and
P Interest expense

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next twelve months, is treated as short-term employee benefit. The Group measures the
expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting
date.

The Group treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term employee benefit for measurement purposes.
Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on the actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method, made at the end of each
financial year. Actuarial gains/losses are immediately taken to the statement of profit and loss, The Group presents the accumulated leave liability as a
current liability in the balance sheet, 1o the extent it does not have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for twelve months after the reporting
date.

n) Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and the net change in the deferred tax asset or liability during the year,

Current and deferred tax are recognized in the statement of profit and loss, except when they relate 1o items that are recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

i, Current income tax

Current income tax for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based
on the taxable income for that period. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date.

il.  Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes. except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that 1s not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences. and the carry forward of unused lax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized, Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-
assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in
equity.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if'it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation autherity on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously. in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

0)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past event, it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If
the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific
to the lability, When discounting is used. the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost.

A contingent liability 1s a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognized because it
is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases where
there is a liability that cannot be recognized because it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses
itin the consolidated financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embadying economic benefits is remote.

p)  Government grants




Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all attached conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset. it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of
the related asset.

q)

Financial Instruments

A. Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value measured on initial recognition of financial asset,

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

YYV¥ Y

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCT) with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOC [} (debt instruments)

Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if these financial assets are held within a business whose objective
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,

Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at fair value. For debt instruments.
at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value changes recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit and loss. This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably
elected to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised in the statement of profit and loss when the
right of payment has been established.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at fair value through
OCI when they meet the definition of equity under Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification
is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Equity instruments which are held for trading and contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which Ind AS103 applies are classified as at FVTPL.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement of profit
and loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
A *financial asset” is measured at the amortized cost if bath the following conditions are met:

4)  The asset is held within a business model whose objective 1s to hold assets for collecting contractual cash flows, and
b)  Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the
principal amount outstanding,

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR.
The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the profit or loss.
This category generally applies to trade and other receivables,

Investment in subsidiary

Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost. Impairment recognized, if any, is reduced from the carrying value.
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De-recognition of financial asset
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed

from the Group’s consalidated balance sheet) when:

a)  The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired. or

b)  The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement: and either (a) the Group has transierred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

B. Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings. or as payables,
as appropriate. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and ether payables, loans and borrowings ineluding bank overdrafts,

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:

¥ Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
»  Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

i.  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial habilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the profit or loss.

ii. Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest (‘EIR’) method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in
the statement of profit and loss,

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using EIR method. For trade and other payables maturing
within one year from the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

De-recognition of financial liability

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantiaily different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

C. Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Group determines classification of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After initial recognition, no reclassification is made for
fmancial assets which are equity instruments and financial liabilities, For financial assets which are debt instruments, a reclassification is made only if
there is a change in the business model for managing those assets.

D. Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and setile the liabilities simultancously.

E. Fair value of financial instruments

The Group measures its financial instruments such as derivative instruments, etc at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

»  In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
# In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorized within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows. based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

» Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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#  Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.
¥ Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 1o the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks
of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above,

r)  Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average
number of equity shares outstanding during the period. Partly paid equity shares are treated as a fraction of an equity share to the extent that they are
entitled to participate in dividends relative to a fully paid equity share during the reporting period. The weighted average number of equity shares
outstanding during the period is adjusted for events such as bonus issue that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a
corresponding change in resources,

For the purpose of calculating diluted eamings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

5)  Cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers all highly liquid financial instruments, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash that are subject o an insignificant
risk of change in value and having original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase, to be cash equivalents.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined above, net
of cutstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

t)  Cash dividend 1o equity holders of the Holding Company

The Holding Company recognizes a liability to make cash distributions to equity holders of the Holding Company when the distribution is authorized
and the distribution is no Tonger at the discretion of the Holding Company. Final dividends on shares are recorded as a liability on the date of approval
by the sharcholders and interim dividends are recorded as a liability on the date of declaration by the Holding Company’s Board of Directors.

2.2 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the acGrouping disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected
in future periods.

In the process of applving the Group’s accounting policies, management makes judgment, estimates and assumptions which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The key judgment, estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its judgments and assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when
they occur,

Significant accounting judgements. estimates and assumptions used by management are as below:
Defined benefit plans — Gratuity

The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and the present value of the gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial valuations, An actuarial
valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount
rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation
is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date,

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate for plans operated in India, the management
considers the interest rates of government bonds. The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables. Those mortality tables tend to
change only at interval in response to demographic changes. Future salary increases are based on expected future inflation rates and expected salary
increase thereon.

Useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment and iniangible assets
The useful life and residual value of property. plant and equipment and intangible assets are determined based on evaluation made by the management
of the expected usage of the asset. the physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence of the asset. Dug to the judgments involved in

such estimates the useful life and residual value are sensitive to the actual usage in future period.

Evaluation of control, joint control or significant influence by the Group over its investee entity for disclosure

-,
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Judgment is involved in determining whether the Group has control aver an investee entity by assessing the Group's exposure/rights to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and its ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee entity. The Group considers all facts
and circumstances when assessing whether it controls an investee entity and reassess whether it controls an investee entity if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more elements of cantrol. In assessing whether the Group has joint control over an investee the Group assesses
whether decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Further, in assessing whether Group has
significant influence over an investee, the Group assesses whether it has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
mvestee, but is not in control or joint control of those policies.

Measturement of financial instriments at amortized cost

Financial instrument are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest ("EIR’) method. The computation of amortized cost is
sensitive 1o the inputs to EIR including effective rate of interest, contractual cash flows and the expected life of the financial instrument. Changes in
assumptions about these inputs could affect the reported value of financial instruments,

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023 dated March 31, 2023 to amend
the following Ind AS which are effective forannual periods beginning on orafter April 01, 2023, The Group applied for the first-time these amendments.

(1) Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to Ind AS 8

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. It has
also been clarified how entities use measurement technigues and inputs to develop accounting estimates,

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(i} Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to Ind AS |

The amendmenis aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose
their ‘significant” accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their “material” accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the

concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments had an impact on the Group’s disclosures of accounting pelicies, but not on the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements,

(iii) Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 4 Single Transaction - Amendments to Ind AS 12

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under Ind AS 12, so that it no lenger applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences such as leases,

The Group previously recognised for deferred tax on leases on a net basis. As a result of these amendments, the Group has recognised a separate
deferred tax asset in relation to its lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets, Since, these balances qualify for offset
as per the requirements of Ind AS 12, there is no impact in the balance sheet. There was also no impact on the opening retained earnings.

Apart from these, consequential amendments and editorials have been made to other Ind AS to the extent possible like Ind AS 101, Ind AS 102, Ind
AS 103, Ind AS 107, Ind AS 109, Ind AS 115 and Ind AS 34.

Bengalurd
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3.1 Property, plant and equipment

Frechold Leasehold Buildings Plant & Electrical Office Computer  Motor  Furniture Total
land land* =" _machinery installation equipment hardware vehicles & fixtures
Cost
At April 01, 2022 3.872 5,729 64,080 12,048 5,405 6,260 1,327 196 17,052 1,15,969
Additions - - 146 27 13 126 65 11 17 405
Disposals (65) - (913) (52) - - - (11) (122) (1.163)
At March 31, 2023 3.807 5,729 63,313 12,023 5,418 6,386 1,392 196 16,947 1,15211
Additions - 6.000 31l 90 31 240 34 - 226 6.932
Disposals - - (360) (112) (2) (162) (9) - (87) (732)
At March 31, 2024 3,807 11,729 63,264 12,001 5,447 6,464 1417 196 17,086 1,21,411
Depreciation
At April 01, 2022 - 471 16,273 7,032 3,612 5,322 1,164 130 14,052 48,056
Charge for the year - 160 2,271 757 406 433 71 13 746 4859
Disposals - - (236) (32) - - - (9) (101) (378)
At March 31, 2023 - 631 18,308 7,757 4,018 5,755 1,238 136 14,697 52,537
Charge for the year - 181 2,135 641 331 295 109 15 613 4,320
Disposals - - (192) (89) (2) (156) (8) - (81) (528)
At March 31, 2024 - 812 20,251 8,309 4,347 5,894 1,336 151 15,229 56,329
Impairment
At April 01, 2022 . 2 775 119 46 61 - - 99 1,100
Charge for the year - - - - - - - - - -
Reversal - - (775) (119) (46) (61) - - (99) (1.100)
At March 31, 2023 - - - - = - - - - -
Charge for the year - - - = = = - . = =
Reversal - - - - - - - - - -
At March 31, 2024 - - - - - - - - - -
Net book value
At April 01, 2022 3,872 5,258 47,032 4.897 1,747 877 163 66 2,901 66,813
At March 31, 2023 3,807 5,098 45,005 4,266 1,400 63 157 60 2,250 62,674
At March 31, 2024 3,807 10,917 43,013 3,692 1,100 571 81 45 1,857 65,082

Impairment Loss

As at April 01, 2022, the impairment loss amounted to Rs. 1.100 lakhs. which represented the write-down value of certain property. plant and equipment to its
recoverable amount as a result of the impact of Covid-19 pandemic. The recoverable amount of such property, plant and equipment was based on value in use and
was determined at the level of the cash generating unit ({CGU") being individual hotel property.

Considering the weakening of the impact of Covid-19 pandemic and the recovery in the Group’s business operations thereon, the Group has updated its business
projections taking into account the current conditions and the amended forecasts for the future periods for the purpose of determining the revised recoverable
amount of the aforesaid property, plant and equipment as at March 31, 2023. Since the revised recoverable amount exceeds the write-down value of such property,
plant and equipment as at March 31, 2023, the Group has reversed the impairment loss of Rs.1,100 lakhs and recognised in the statement of profit and loss as
exceptional item during the year ended March 31, 2023,

The recoverable amount of the CGU comprising of two hotel properties as at March 31, 2023 was Rs. 30,932 lakhs, which was based on value in use and was
determined at the level of the CGU. In determining value in use for the CGU, the cash flows were discounted at a rate of 10% on a pre-tax basis.

Capitalised borrowing costs
Refer note 4 for details of capitalised borrowing costs.

Assets under construction

Refer note 4 for details of capital work in progress.

Assets pledged
Refer note 15 for details of assets pledged as security for borrowings.

Assets leased
* Leaschold land represents Right-of-use assets. Also refer note 29 for details.

Iitle deeds of immovable properties
The title deeds of immovable properties (other than properties where the Holding Company is the lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the

lessee) included in property, plant and equipment are held in the name of the Holding Company.
The property, plant and equipment of the Holding Company include land, buildings and other assets with a gross carrying value of Rs. 35,168 lakhs, which were
acquired by the Holding Company from its Ultimate Parent Company - Brigade Enterprises Limited pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement between the Holding
Company and its Ultimate Parent Company and their respective shareholders and creditors in terms of the provisions of Sections 230 to 233 of the Companies Act,
2013 tg transfer the hotel business undertakings, including the aforesaid land, buildings and other assets, to the Holding Company (hereinatter referred to as “the
mﬁt@qy was approved by National Company Law Tribunal (‘“NCLT?) on March 13, 2018 with an appointed date of October 01, 2016 and was filed
istiarofil

it 0o B {Jmpanies, Karnataka on April 01, 2018,
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3.2 Intangible Assets

Computer

Software Vol
Cost
At April 01, 2022 9410 940
Additions - -
Disposals - -
At March 31, 2023 940 940
Additions ; 3
Disposals - -
At March 31, 2024 940 940
Amortization
At April 01, 2022 732 732
Charge for the year 76 76
Disposals " .
At March 31, 2023 808 808
Charge for the year 44 44
Disposals - -
At March 31, 2024 §52 852
Net book value
At April 01, 2022 208 208
At March 31, 2023 132 132
At March 31, 2024 88 88

4 Capital work in progress

Property Plant
and Equipment Taotal

(Buildings)
At April 01, 2022 2,365 2,365
Additions during the vear 907 907
Less: Capitalised during the year (333) (333)
At March 31, 2023 2,939 2,939
Additions during the year 4,636 4,636
Less; Capitalised during the year (407) (407)
At March 31, 2024 7,168 7,168
Capital work in progress ageing schedule
Amount in Capital work in progress for the period of Total
<1 Year 1-2 years 2-3 years >3 years
At March 31, 2024
Projects in progress 4,448 403 77 2,240 7,168
Projects temporarily suspended u 5 = 5, =
Total 4,448 403 77 2,240 7,168
At March 31, 2023
Projects in progress 606 82 131 2,120 2.939
Projects temporarily suspended - - ’ = =
Total 606 82 131 2,120 2,939
At April 01, 2022
Projects in progress 101 131 474 1,659 2,365
Projects temporarily suspended - = = = =
Total 101 131 474 1,659 2,365
Notes:

1. The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended March 31, 2024 was Rs. 165 lakhs (March 31, 2023: Rs. § lakhs) and
the capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 9-10% p.a.

2 Refer note 14 for details of assets pledged as security for borrowings
3. There are no praject whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original plan,

e Bengalir,! © 1!
R \ 3




Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
(All amounts in Indian Rupees Lakhs, except as otherwise stated)

n

Non-Current Investments

March 31, 2024 Murch 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Unquoted

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Tnvestment in equity shares

55,655 (March 31, 2023 - 55,655, Apnl 01, 2022 - 8 500) Equity Shares of of 210/ each fully 6 6 |
paid up in Aban Green Power Private Limited*

Investments carried at amortised cost
Tnvestment in Government  Trust secirifics
-Mational Savings Certificate™* = : y;

Total Investments [ 6 1
a) Aggregate book value/market value of quoted investments - - =
b) Aggregate value of unquoted investments 6 6 |

¢} Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments W . %

*The subsidiary has invested in an energy generating company as per the regulation of Electricity Act. As per share holder agreement entered into by the subsidiary, the
shares are required to be transferred back at cost. Accordingly, the cost of investment represents the fair value of the investments and hence the cost equals the fair value.

**Represents Rs.5,000 as investment in National Savings Certificate

6 Loans

{Unsecured, considered good)

Non-current Current

March 31,2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022 March 31, 2024 Mareh 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Loans to employees - : e = = 2

7 Other financial assets
{Unsecured, considered good)

Non-current Current

March 31, 2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Margin money deposits with banks® 647 612 590 - - .

Deposits with remaining maturity of more than 12 months 253 - - - - -
Security deposit 149 216 92 42 42 42
Interest accrued 3 3 | 70 72 47
Unbilled revenue - - - 175 97 32
1,052 831 683 287 211 121

*Margin money deposits have been made towards borrowings, letter of credit and bank guarantee facilities availed by the Group from banks. Refer note 15 for details of

i

deposits pledged as security for borrowings,
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8 Income tax

8.1 Deferred tax

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Deferred rax liahilities

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets- Impact of difference between tax depreciation and 2,529 2315 1,448
depreciation/amertization charged for the financial reporting

Right of use assets 3,179 1,485 1,531
Impact relating to compound financial instruments 1,588 1,972 2,079
Gross deferred tax liabilities 7,296 5,772 5,058
Deferred rax assets

Unused tax losses 11,065 11,251 10,847
Lease liabilities 3,761 1,966 1,930
Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the current year and allowed for tax purposes 286 467 287
in a subsequent year on payment basis

Gross deferred tax assets 15,112 13,684 13,064
Net deferred tax assets 7.816 7.912 8,006
Notes:

The Taxation Laws (Amendment) Ordinance, 2019 (‘the Ordinance’) provides an option to domestic companies to pay income-tax at a lower rate of 25.17% instead of the
nomal rate of 29.12% (as applicable to the Holding Company), if it opts for not availing of certain specified exemptions or incentives. The Holding Company has made an
assessment of the impact of the Ordinance and has decided to not opt for the lower tax rate of 25.17%. Consequently, the Holding Company has continued to measure the
current and deferred taxes at the normal rate of 29.12%.

The unused tax losses towards business loss [Deferred tax assets of Rs. 2,582 lakhs (March 31, 2023: Rs. 2,776 lakhs, April 01, 2022 Rs. 2,776 lakhs)] can be carried
forward for a maximum period of eight financial years immediately succeeding the financial year in which the loss was first computed and would expire, if not utilised,
starting from financial year 2029-2030. Further, the unused tax losses towards unabsorbed depreciation [Deferred tax assets of Rs.8,483 lakhs (March 31, 2023: Rs.8,475
Jakhs, April 01,2022: Rs. 8,071 lakhs))] can be carried forward for an indefinite period.

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset (net)

March 31,2024 March 31, 2023

Opening balance 7.912 8,006
Deferred tax recognised in profit or loss (94) 145
Deferred tax recognised in other equity - (232)
Deferred tax recognised in OCI (2) A
Closing balance of deferred tax assets (net) 7,816 7,012

Balance asat  Recognised in  Recognised in Recognised in Balance as at
April 01, 2022 statement 0cCl Other equity ~ March 31, 2023
profit or loss

Movement in deferred tax assets (net) for the year
ended March 31, 2023

(a) Deferred tax liabilitics

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets- Impact of difference 1,448 867 - - 2315
between tax depreciation and depreciation/amortization charged for the

financial reporting

Right of use assets 1,531 (46) - - 1,485
Impact relating to compound financial instruments 2,079 (339) - 232 1,972
5,058 482 - 232 5772

(b) Deferred tax assets
Unused tax losses 10,847 404 - - 11,251
Lease liabilities 1,930 36 - - 1,966
Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the 287 187 (7) - 467
current year and allowed for tax purposes in a subsequent year on payment
basis

13,064 627 (7) 13,684

Net deferred tax assets (b) - (a) 8,006 145 (7) (232) 7,912
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9

Mavement in deferred tax assets {net) for the year

Balance as at

Recognised in

Recognised in

Recognised in

Balance as at

ended Mareh 31,2024 March 31,2023 statement ocl Other equity  March 31,2024
profit or loss
(a) Deferred tax liabilities
Property. plant and equipment and intangible assets- [mpact of difference 2315 214 - i 2,529
between tax depreciation and depreciation/amortization charged for the
financial reporting
Right of use assets 1,485 1.694 3,179
Impact relating to compound financial instruments 1,972 (384) - - 1,588
5372 1,524 - - 7,296
(b) Deferred tax assets
Unused tax losses 11,251 (186} - - 11,065
Lease liabilities 1.966 1,795 3,761
Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the 467 (179) (2) - 286
current year and allowed for tax purposes in a subsequent year on payment
basis
13,684 1,430 (2) - 15,112
Net deferred tax assets (b) - (a) 7,912 (94) (2) " 7.816
8.2 Tax expense
The major components of income tax expense are:
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Profit or Loss section
Current tax
Current income tax charge -
Deferred tax credit
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 94 (143)
Income tax expense/(credit) reported in the statement of profit and loss 94 (145)
OC1 Section
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year
Income tax relating to re-measurement (gains)/ losses on defined benefit plans (2) (7)
Income tax (expenseleredit reparted in OCI (2) (7
Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India’s domestic tax rate
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Accounting profit/{loss) before income tax 3,208 {454)
Statutory income tax rate
Tax at statutory income tax rate 29.12% / 27.82% (March 31, 2023: 29.12% / 27.82%) 926 (135)
Tax effect on recognition of unrecogmised tax loss in subsidiary (802) -
Tax effect of other items, net (30) (10)
Tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss 94 (145)
8.3 Current tax assets (net)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Current fax assets (net) 555 450 406
555 450 406
Other assets
(Unsecured, considered good)
Non-current Current
March 31,2024 March 31,2023  April 01, 2022 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Balances with statutory / government authorities 66 62 62 893 2486 2,790
Advance to suppliers - . - 247 290 189
Capital advances 68 52 132 - - -
Prepaid expenses 20 23 25 494 368 268
Advance to employees - - - 43 25 13
Other assets - - - - - 44
154 137 219 1,677 3,169 3,304
Inventories
(valued at lower of cost and net realisable value)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Food and beverages 523 375 216
Stores and spares 68 61 41
591 436 257

Bengeﬂy;u} -

560 0hd
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Trade receivables

(unsecured)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Trade receivables - considered good

Receivables from related parties (refer note 30) 56 60 82

Receivables from others parties 2,120 2,009 1,173
Trade receivables - credit impaired

Recervables from others parties 70 129 153
Total trade receivables 2,246 2,198 1,408
Impairment allowance (allowance for bad and doubitful debis)
Trade receivables - credit impaired

Receivables from others parties (70) (129) (153)
Total trade receivables 2,176 2,069 1,255
Note: Refer note 15 for details of trade receivables pledged as security for borrowings.
4. Details of provision for impairment is as below: March 31,2024 March 31, 2023

Balance at the beginning of the year 129 153

Add: Provision made during the year - 73

Less: reversal during the year (59) %

Less: written off during the vear . (97)

Balance at the end of the year 70 129
b. Trade receivables ageing schedule:
Particulars Outstanding for the following periods from due date of payment

< 6 months 6 months- 1-2 years 2-3 years >3 Years Total
1 year

March 31, 2024
Undisputed, considered good 1,928 24 - - - 1,952
Undisputed, credit impaired 5 8 43 4 - 55
Disputed, considered good % - 224 224
Disputed, credit impaired - - - - 15 15
Total 1,928 32 43 4 239 2,246
March 31,2023
Undisputed, considered good 1,778 67 u - 1,845
Undisputed, credit impaired 36 54 22 2 - 114
Disputed, considered good - - - - 224 224
Disputed, credit impaired - - - - 15 15
Total 1,814 121 22 2 239 2,198
April 01, 2022
Undisputed, considered good 968 31 2 I3 17 1,031
Undisputed, credit impaired 13 10 11 18 E 52
Disputed, considered good - - 149 75 224
Disputed, credit impaired - - - 7 94 101
Total 981 41 13 187 186 1,408
Nates:

1. Trade receivable are non interest bearing and are due from the date of transactions.

2. The Group applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of impairment losses on trade receivables. The Group follows the simplified
approach for recognition of impairment allowance on trade receivables, The application of the simplified approach does not require the Group to track changes in credit
risk. Rather, it recognises impairment allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. ECL impairment loss allowance (or reversal ) recognised during the year is
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss. This amount is reflected under the head *other expenses/other income’ in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit and Loss.

3. Trade receivable include receivable due from directors and other related parties

Particulars March 31,2024  March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
BCV Developers Private Limited [BCV'] - - 6
WTC Trades & Projects Private Limited ['WTC'] 29 - &
Brigade Hospitality Services Limited [BHSL'] 0 - 1
Brigade Tetrarch Private Limited['BTPL') - - 1
Brigade Innovations LLP ['BILLP']

Brigade Properties Private Limited['BPPL']
Brigade Gujarat Projects Private Limited [BGPPL']
Brigade Flexible Office Spaces LLP [BFOS]
Mysore Holdings Private Limited [MHPL']
Mysare Projects Private Limited [MPPL'] - - 1
Perungudi Real Estates Private Limited [PREPL'] - - 1
SRP Gears Pvt Ltd ['SRP Gears'| :

Brigade E ises-Limited [BEL] 15 59 71
Subra yarﬁ,Erfgigig : Limited [ 'SEL'] 4 - =
Mr. e BatariappanC,. = 0 0
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12,1

Cash and cash equivalents

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

April 01, 2022

Cash on hand 27 16 15
Balances with banks;
— In current accounts 768 760 1,163
Cheques on hand 3 = -
798 776 1,178
Changes in liabilitics arising from financing activities:
: Non-current Current IRErE hoerued
Particulars i z and not due on Total
borrowings borrowings ;
borrowings
Balance as at April 01, 2022 58,732 9,813 [ 68,545
Cash inflows 2679 - - 2,679
Cash outflows (10,251) - (10,251)
Accrual of finance cost (other than interest on lease liability) - - 6,225 6,225
Interest paid (other than interest on lease liability) . - (5,083) (5,083)
Accrual of interest on loans from related parties 1,140 - {1,140y -
Reclassification of equity component of interest-free loan to equity (800) - - (800)
Bank overdraft - 1,937 - 1,937
Others* (1,395) 1,395 - £
Balance as at March 31, 2023 50,105 13,145 2 63,252
Cash inflows 11,569 “ - 11,569
Cash outflows (14.314) 2 = (14,314)
Accrual of finance cost (other than interest on lease liability) - & 6,126 6,126
Interest paid (other than interest on lease liability) - - (4,787) (4,787)
Accrual of interest 1,335 - (1,335) -
Reclassification of equity component of interest-free loan to equity - - - -
Bank overdraft - {1,721) - (1,721)
Others* 6,218 (6,218) s s
Balance as at March 31, 2024 54913 5,206 6 60,125
* Others indicate the effect of movement between current and non-current borrowings basis the balance repayment period.
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents
MNon-current Current
March 31, 2024 Mareh 31,2023 April 01, 2022 March 31, 2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022
Balances with banks;
Margin money deposits 647 612 590 i F i
Deposits with original and remaining maturity of more
than 12 months 253 i u i J =
Deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months
but not more than 12 months c - - 1,228 2,325 2,091
900 612 590 1,228 2,325 2,091
Less: Disclosed under non-current financial assets
(refer note 7) (900) (612) (590) - = i
- - - 1,228 2,325 2,091
Note: Deposits eamed interest based on the bank deposit rates.
Break up of financial assets carried at amortised cost March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Investments (note 5) 6 6 1
Loans {note 6 N - 2
Other financial assets {note 7) 1,339 1,042 804
Trade receivables (note 11) 2,176 2,069 1,255
Cash and cash equivalents {note 12.1) 798 776 1,178
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents (note 12.2) 1,228 2,325 2,091
5,547 6,218 5,331
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13.1 Equity share capital

Authorised share capital March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01,2022

No. in Lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs. MNo. in lakhs Rs
Equity shares of Rs.10 each:
Balance at the beginning of the year 90 900 90 Q00 90 900
Changes during the year - - - - - -
Balance at the end of the year 90 900 90 200 90 900
Issued, subscribed and fully paid- up share capital March 31,2024 March 31, 2023 April 01,2022

No. in lakhs Rs. MNo. in lakhs Rs. MNo. in lakhs Rs.

Equity shares of Rs.10 each:

Balance at the beginning of the year 10 100 10 100 10 100
Changes during the year - n & " & .
Balance at the end of the year 10 100 10 100 10 100

Terms/ rights attached to equity shares

The Holding Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each holder of equity is entitled to one vote per share. The
Holding Company declares and pays dividend in Indian Rupees. The dividend proposed by the Board of directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders
in the ensuing Annual General Meeting,

In event of liquidation of the Holding Company, the holders of equity shares would be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Holding Company. after
distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

(a) Shares held by ultimate parent company

March 31,2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Brigade Enterprises Limited. the ultimate parent company
10 lakhs (March 31,2023 - 10 lakhs, April 01,2022 - 10 lakhs) Equity shares of Rs. 10 each 100 100 100

(b) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Holding Company:

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

No. in lakhs % holding No. in lakhs Y holding No. in lakhs %a holding

Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid

Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent 10 100% 10 100% 10 100%
company
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(c) Shares held by promoters

As at March 31, 2024
Promoter Name No. of shares at  Change during  No. of shares at % of total shares % change during
the beginning of the year the end of the the year
the year year
(in lakhs) (in lakhs)
Equily shares of Rs.10 each fully paid
Brigade Enterprises Limited. the ultimate parent company 10 - 10 100.00% -
As at March 31, 2023
Promoter Name No, of shares at  Change during  No. of shares at % of total shares % change during
the beginning of the year the end of the the year
the year year
(in lakhs) (in lakhs)
Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid
Brigade Enterprises Limited. the ultimate parent company 10 - 10 100.00% -
As at April 01, 2022
Promoter Name No. of shares at  Change during  No. of shares at % of total shares % change during
the heginning of the year the end of the the year
the year year
(in Takhs) (in lakhs)
Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid
Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent company 10 - 10 100.00%
d) For details of shares reserved for issue under options. refer note 13.2
13.2 Instruments entirely equity in nature
Authorised share capital March 31, 2024 Mareh 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Nuo, in lakhs Rs, No. in lakhs Rs, No. in lakhs Rs,
Optionally Convertible Redeemable Preference
Shares of Rs.100 cach ("OCRPS"):
Balance at the beginning of the year 281 28,100 281 28,100 281 28,100
Changes during the year - - - - - -
Balance at the end of the year 281 28,100 281 28,100 281 28,100
Murch 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
0.01% B Series Cumulative Compulsary No. in lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs.
Convertible Preference Shares of Rs.100 each
(CCPS):
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 150 2 150 2 150

Changes during the year - F " - i s

Balance at the end of the year 2 150 2 150 2 150
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Issued, subscribed and fully paid- up share capital

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

April 01,2022

No. in lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs. MNo. in lakhs Rs.
OCRPS of Rs.100 each:
Balance at the beginning of the year 280 28,043 280 28.043 280 28,043
Changes during the year 3 & = 3 :
Balance at the end of the year 280 28,043 280 28,043 2580 28,043

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

No. in lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs.
0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs. 100 each:
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 150 2 150 2 150
Changes during the year - " . " & _
Balance at the end of the year 2 150 2 150 2 150
Total 282 28,193 282 28,193 282 28,193

Terms of conversion/ redemption of OCRPS issued by the Holding Company

OCRPS has been issued carrying a coupon of (.01% (point zero one per cent) per annum caleulated on the face value of such OCRPS. The holder of OCRPS
may at any time prior to the expiry of 20 (twenty) years exercise the option to convert the OCRPS to equity shares. Each OCRPS shall be convertible into 10
(ten) equity shares or lesser number based on the consent of the holder. The holder of OCRPS shall be entitled ta voting rights as per the Companies Act, 2013,

The holder has confirmed compulsory conversion of the OCRPS into equity shares in the ratio of 1:10 and accordingly OCRPS has been recorded and
disclosed as "Instruments entirely equity in nature".

On May 10. 2024. pursuant to the option exercised by the holder of the OCRPS and approval of the Board of Directors and the sharcholders of the Holding
Company. 2.80,43.000 OCRPS have been converted to 28.04.30.000 equity shares of the Holding Company of Rs, 10/- each at a ratio of 1:10 (i.e.. 10 Equity
Shares issued for every 1 OCRPS held by the holder of the OCRPS).

Terms of conversion/ redemption of CCPS issued by the subsidiary

B Series Cumulative Compulsary Convertible Preference Shares holder may at any time prior to expiry of nine years exercise the option to convert to ten equity
shares for every one preference share held The dividend is payable as may be decided by the Board of Directors of the subsidiary. The preference shares rank
ahead of the equity shares in the event ofa liquidation. The holder of CCPS shall be entitled to voting rights as per the Companies Act, 2013.

(a) Shares held by ultimate parent company

March 31,2024 March 31,2023  April 01, 2022

Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent company
280,43.000 (March 31, 2023 - 280,43.000, April 01, 2022- 280,43.000) OCRPS of Rs.100 each 28,043 28,043 28,043
1,50,000 (March 31, 2023 - 1,50,000, April 01,2022 - 1,50,000) 0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs.100 each 150 150 150
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(b) Details of sharcholders holding more than 5% shares in the company:

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01,2022
No. in lakhs % holding No. in lakhs % holding No. in lakhs Yo holding
OCRPS of Rs. 100 each :
Brigade Enterprises Limited. the ultimate parent 280 100% 280 100% 280 100%
company
0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs. 100 each :
Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent 2 100% 2 100% 2 100%
company
(c) Shares held by promoters
As at March 31, 2024
No. of shares at Change during No. of shares at % of Total % change
the beginning the year the end of the Shares during the year
Promoter Name
of the year year
(in lakhs) {in lakhs)
Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent company
OCRPS of Rs. 100 each 28,043 - 28.043 100.00% =
0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs, 100 each 150 - 150 50.00% -
As at March 31, 2023
No. of shares at Change during No. of shares at % of Total % change
T the beginning the year the end of the Shares during the year
of the year year
(in lakhs) {in lakhs)
Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent company
OCRPS of Rs, 100 each 28,043 - 28,043 100.00% -
0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs. 100 each 150 - 150 50.00% -
As at April 01, 2022
No. of shares at Change during No. of shares at % of Total % change
A —— the beginning the year the end of the Shares during the year
of the year year
(in lakhs) (in lakhs)

Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent company
OCRPS of Rs. 100 each 28,043 - 28,043 100.00% -
0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs. 100 each 150 - 150 50.00% -
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14.1 Other equity

March 31,2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Equity Component of Compound Financial Instruments

Balance at the beginning of the year 6.750 6.182 6,182
Add: Equity component of interest-free related party loans during the year - 568 -
Balance at end of the year (A) 6,750 6,750 6,182

Equity component of compound financial instruments being deemed capital contribution (ie. interest-free related party loans) represents the residual amount
after deducting from the fair value of the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined for the liability component and tax effect thereon,

Capital Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 1 1 1
Add: Additions during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year (B) 1 1 1

Capital reserve represents reserve recorded in the subsidiary company as part of demerger scheme. which can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of

the Companies Act.

Revaluation Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 829 829 829
Add: Additions during the year - " a
Balance at the end of the year (C) 829 829 829

Revaluation reserve represents reserve arising on revaluation of land in the subsidiary company. Upeon disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to the

particular asset being sold is transferred directly to retained earnings.

General reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year 91 91 91
Add: Additions during the year - - -
Balance at the end of the year (D) 7 91 91

General reserve represents amounts transferred from retained earnings in the subsidiary company, which can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of

the Companies Act.

Retained earnings / (deficit)

Balance at the beginning of the year (31,753) (31,382) (23,779)
Profit/ (loss) for the year 2,487 (384) (7.650)
Other comprehensive income for the year 6 13 47
Balance at the end of the year (E) (29,260) (31,753) (31.382)
Total other equity (A+B+C+D+E) (21,589) (24,082) (24,279)

Retained earnings are the profits/(loss) that the Group has earned/incurred till date, less any transfers to general reserve. dividends or other distributions paid to
shareholders. Retained earnings include re-measurement loss / (gain) on defined benefit plans, net of taxes that will not be reclassified to Statement of Profit
and Loss.
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14.2 Non-controlling interests®

March 31,2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year : 569 492 1111
Profit/ (loss) for the year 627 75 (622)
Other comprehensive income tor the year 1 2 3
Balance at the end of the year 1,197 569 492

#includes instruments entirely equity in nature issued by the subsidiary company o its shareholders being non-controlling interests

Authorised share capital March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
No. in lakhs Rs. No, in lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs.

0.01% A Series Cumulative Compulsary
Convertible Preference Shares of Rs.100 each

(CCPS):

Balance at the beginning of the year 34 3,400 34 3.400 34 3.400
Changes during the year - - - - - -
Balance at the end of the year 34 3,400 34 3,400 34 3,400

0.01% B Series Cumulative Compulsary
Convertible Preference Shares of Rs.100 each

(CCPS):
Balance at the beginning of the year 3 300 3 300 3 300
Changes during the year - - - - - -
Balance at the end of the year 3 300 3 300 3 300
Issued, subscribed and fully paid- up share capital
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

No. in lakhs Rs. No. in lakhs Rs. MNo. in lakhs Rs.
0.01% A Series CCPS of Rs.100 each:
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 50 1 50 ! 50
Changes during the year - = - - + 5
Balance at the end of the year 1 50 1 50 1 50
0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs.100 each:
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 150 2 150 2 150
Changes during the year - - - S 4 5
Balance at the end of the year 2 150 2 150 2 150

Terms of conversion/ redemption of CCPS issued by the subsidiary

A Series and B Series Cumulative Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares holder may at any time prior to expiry of nine years exercise the option to
convert to ten equity shares for every one preference share held. The dividend is payable as may be decided by the Board of Directors of the subsidiary. Each
holder of CCPS is entitled to ane vote per share. The preference shares rank ahead of the equity shares in the event of a liquidation. The holder of CCPS shall
be entitled to voting rights as per the Companies Act, 2013,

Holders of A Series CCPS March 31,2024 March 31,2023 April 01,2022
Subramanian Engineering Limited, the non-controlling interests

50,000 (March 31, 2023 - 50,000, April 01.2022 - 50.000) 0.01% A Series CCPS of Rs.100 each 50 50 30
Holders of B Series CCPS March 31,2024  March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Subramanian Engineering Limited, the non-controlling interests
1.50,000 (March 31, 2023 - 1,50,000, April 01, 2022 - 1,50,000) 0.01% B Series CCPS of Rs.100 cach 150 150 150
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15  Borrowings

B i Maturity  \y ch 31,2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022
interest rate period
Non-current borrowings
Tenm loan from banks (secured) 7-12% Upto 2031 42,534 39,011 49,478
Loans from related parties (unsecured; refer note 30) Mote (ii) Note (i1) 12,297 10,976 9,150
54,831 49,987 58,628
Debentures (unsecurced)
53,920 0.01% Unsecured unlisted Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD) of Rs. 100/- each fully paid up - 44 38
100,000 0.01% Unsecured unlisted A series Non-Convertible Debentures (A Series NCD) of Rs.100/- each fully 82 T4 66
paid up
54,913 S0,105 58,732
Current borrowings
Current maturities of debentures {Unsecured) 49 - -
53,920 0,01% Unsecured unlisted Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD) of Rs. 100/~ each fully paid up
Bank overdraft (Secured) 9-10%% On demand 403 2124 187
Current maturities of non-current borrowings - term loan from banks (Secured) 7-12% Upto 2031 4,754 11,021 9,626
Total Current borrowings 5,206 13,145 9,813

Notes:

(i) Term loan from banks are secured by way of first mortgage of hotel project properties, assignment of certain current assets and future receivables. The loans carries
floating interest rate in the range of 7-12% and are repayable over period of 25-114 monthly instalments of Rs.321-Rs.955 lakhs.

(ii) Loan from related parties are unsecured and carries interest of 12% and are repayable from 2025, On July 1, 2020, the Holding Company and its Ultimate Parent
Company entered into an agreement for interest-free unsecured loan of upto Rs.20,000 lakhs and repayable in quarierly instalments of Rs.1,000 lakhs each from June
2025 to March 2030, The existing loan payable of Rs. 11,274 lakhs as on June 30, 2020 (Principal - Rs.9,881 lakhs and Interest payable - Rs.1,393 lakhs) was converted
into interest-free loan as part of the aforesaid agreement. The Holding Company has drawn loan of Rs.5,016 lakhs during the period July 27, 2020 to March 31, 2021 and
Rs. 1500 lakhs during the period November 29, 2022 to March 31, 2023. The Holding Company has accounted the aforesaid loan, being interest-free in nature, as
compound financial instruments in accordance with Ind AS 32 with effective interest rate of 12%.

{iii) Bank overdrafts are secured by way of mortgage of a hotel project property, assigniment of certain current assets and future receivables.

(iv) The quarterly returns / statements filed by the Group with banks under the borrowings arrangements are in agreement with the books of accounts of the Group.

{v) With regard to the borrowings from banks, the Group has utilised the loans solely for the purposes for which they were taken,
(vi) No funds raised on short-term basis have been used for long-term purposes by the Group.
(vii) The Group has satisfied all debt covenants as per the terms of borrowings.

Debentures (issued by the subsidiary company)
i) NCD have been issued at par carrying an interest rate of 0.01% per annum and with effect from March 25, 2020, These are mandatorily redeemable at the expiry of 5
years from the date of its issue i.e., March 20, 2023,

i) A series NCD have been issued at par carrying an interest rate of 0.01% per annum and with effect from December 07, 2020, These are mandatorily redeemable at the
expiry of 5 years from the date of its issue i.¢., December 06, 2025.

L
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16 Other financial liabilitics

Non-Current Current

March 31, 2024 March 31,2023 April 01,2022 March 31,2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022

Lease deposits 209 206 173 - -

Payable towards purchase of property, plant and equipment - - - 2,050 2418 2,672

Employee benefits payable - - - 548 456 232

Interest accrued and not due - - - 6 2 -

Interest free deposits from customers - - - 237 229 23

Other payable - - - 263 187 215
209 206 173 3,104 3,292 3,340

17  Provisions Non-Current Current

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01,2022 March 31,2024  March 31,2023 Apeil 01, 2022

Provision for employvee benefits

Provision for gratuily (refer note 33) 102 82 86 40 24 20
Provision for leave encashment 7 6 3 103 79 44
109 88 89 143 103 64

18 Other liabilities Mon-Current Current

March 31,2024 March 31,2023 April 01,2022  March 31,2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022

Advance from customers - - - 524 503 478
Deferred government grants* 878 894 - 16 16 926
Deferred lease income - - - 154 161 136
Statutory dues payable - - - 954 877 131

878 894 i 1,648 1,557 1,671

* The Holding Company has received grants in the nature of capital subsidy, interest subsidy and electricity duty subsidy of Rs. 1,056 lakhs under the Tourism Policy for
the State of Gujarat (2015-2020) from the government of Gujarat for the purpose of construction of a hotel property in GIFT city, Gujarat.

The capital subsidy is towards capital investment made by the Holding Company in the hotel property. Accordingly, amount of capital subsidy received is treated as a
deferred government grant and is recognised as income in the statement of profit and loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

The interest subsidy and electicity duty subsidy are towards the costs incurred by the Holding Company towards construction of the hotel property and the same has been
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19 Trade payables

March 31, 2024 March 31,2023 April 01, 2022
Trade payables
- Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises 136 95 96
- Total owstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises
- Pavable to related parties (refer note 30) 152 3 40
- Payable to other parties 2,445 3,047 1,756
2,733 3,145 1,892
Trade payables ageing schedule:
Particulars Unbilled and Outstanding for the following periods from due date of payment
not due -
< 6 Months Bvisags -1 1-2 Years 2-3 Years =3 Years K
Year
March 31, 2024
MSME - 136 = - - 136
Others 1,414 1,143 1 6 8 25 2,597
Disputed dues -MSME - - - - - - -
Disputed dues - Others . - % - = - -
Total 1,414 1,279 1 6 8 25 2,733
March 31, 2023
MSME - 95 - - - - 95
Others 1,694 1,102 32 41 22 159 3,050
Disputed dues -MSME - - - - -
Disputed dues - Others - - - - - - -
Total 1,694 1,197 32 41 22 159 3,145
April 01, 2022
MSME - 96 - - - - 96
Others 806 673 105 6 27 179 1,796
Disputed dues -MSME - - - . - B
Disputed dues - Others - - - - - -
Total 6 769 105 6 27 179 1,892
Note: Trade payble are outsianding from the date of transactions
Break up of financial liabilitics carried at amortised cost
March 31,2024  March 31,2023 April 01, 2022
Non-current borrowings (note 15) 54913 50,105 58,732
Current borrowings (note 15) 5,206 13,145 9813
Other financial liabilities (note 16) 3.313 3,498 3,513
Lease liabilities (note 29) 11,834 6,752 6,629
Trade payables (note 19) 2,733 3,145 1,892
80,579
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
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20 Revenue from operations

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Revenue from contracts with customers

- Revenue from hospitality services 39.473 34 433
Income from leasing 532 511
40,005 34,944

Other operating revenue
- Other ancillary services 165 78
165 78
40,170 35,022

20.1 Disaggregated revenue information
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Groups’s revenue from contraets with customers by timing of transfer of goods or services:

Revenue from contracts with customers Mareh 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Revenue from hospitality services and other ancillary services - Recognised over time 39.638 34,511

20.2 Contract balances

March 31,2024  Mareh 31,2023 April 01, 2022

Trade receivables 2.176 2,069 1,255
Unbilled revenue 175 97 32
2,351 2,166 1,287

Advance from customers 524 503 478
524 503 478

Trade receivable are due from the date of transactions.

Unbilled revenue pertains to transactions where performance obligation has been satisfied and contractual invoices have not been raised,

Contract liabilities includes advance from customers and deferred revenue representing transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance
abligations. The outstanding balance has deereased primarily on account of recognition of revenue in current year.

Revenue recognised during the year that was included in the contract liabilities 503 478 395
balance at the beginning of the year:

21 Other income

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost:

Bank deposits 164 146
Others 28 29
Govermnment grants 16 16

Reversal of impairment allowance for bad and doubtful debts 39 -
Profit on sale of property, plant & equipment (net) 6 381
Miscellaneous income 42 47
315 619

22 Cost of materials consumed

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Inventory at the beginning of the year 436 257

Add: Purchases during the year 4,189 3.687
4,625 3,944

Less; Inventory at the end of the year (591) (436)
4,034 3,508

w [ Bengalurd
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23  Employec benefits expense
Salaries, wages and bonus (refer note 33)

Contribution to provident and other funds
Staff welfare expenses

24 Depreciation and amartization expense

Depreciation of property. plant and equipment and right of use assets

(refer note 3.1)
Amortization of intangible assets (refer note 3.2)

b
oy

Finance costs

Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost
on bank borrowings
on related party borrowings (refer note 30)
on lease liabilities
on others
Other borrowing costs

26 Other expenses

Power and fuel
Rent (refer note 29)
Repairs & maintenance

Buildings

Plant & machinery

Others
Sub-contracting expenses
Consumable costs
Insurance
Rates and taxes
Payment to auditor (refer note below)
Property taxes
Advertising and sales promotion
Agency commission
Security charges
Impairment allowance for bad and doubtful debts
Traiming and recruitment expenses
Legal and professional charges
Directors sitting fees
Printing and stationery expenses
Travelling & conveyance
Loss on sale of property, plant & equipment (net)
Communication expenses
Exchange difference (net)
Miscellaneous expenses

Payment to auditors (excluding goods and service tax):
As auditor: Audit fees
Out of pocket expenses

{Ben 'r'.Ur .-
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March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

6.500 5.424
396 37
730 590

7,626 6,331

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

4,320 4 859
44 76
4,364 4,935
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
4,400 4,797
1,335 1,140
763 692
2 1
389 287
6,889 6,917

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

2.875 257
781 660
550 573
409 411
381 316

1,141 313

1332 1,266
237 187
490 556

62 15
464 3,371
597 507

1,289 1.087

12 13

< 73

74 47

2273 1,988

i I
159 125
638 499
198 .
180 148

25 43
196 233

14,364 15,504

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

39 14
3 1
62 15
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27

28

Earnings/(Loss) per share ('EPS')

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the Group by the weighted average number of equity shares
outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding
during the year plus the weighted average number of equity shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares into equity
shares.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computation:

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Profit/(Loss) attributable to equity shareholders 2,487 (384)
Effect of dilution " "
Profit/(Loss) attributable to equity sharcholders adjusted for the effect of dilution 2,487 (384)
Weighted average number of equity shares for basic EPS (No.in lakhs) 2814 2814

[includes 2,804 lakhs (March 31, 2023: 2,804 lakhs, April 01, 2022: 2,804 lakhs) cquity shares to be

issued on conversion of OCRPS being a mandatorily convertible instrument. Also refer note 13.2]

Effect of dilution g -
Weighted average number of equity shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 2,814 2,814

Note: The impact of OCRPS, being mandatorily convertible instruments, have not been considered in the computation of diluted EPS as the same has
already been included in the computation of basic EPS.

Commitments and contingencies

a. Capital commitment
The estimated amount of contracts (net of capital advance) remaining to be executed on capital account not pravided for is Rs. 2.298 lakhs (March 31, 2023:
Rs, 1,137 lakhs, April 01, 2022: Rs. 4,273 lakhs).

b. Contingent liabilities

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

(i) Bank guarantee 358 454 427

(ii) Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts, in the nature of Income Tax demands and Goods and Services Tax demands are Rs. 252 lakhs and
Rs. 700 lakhs respectively.

(iii) Property tax demand under litigation

The Holding Company has been discharging property tax in respect of its hotel properties. In this regard, the Holding Company has received a demand
notice from the municipal authority assessing the property tax for certain hotel property for the period from financial year 2011-12 to financial year 2021-22
resulting in demand of Rs.9,222 lakhs including interest and penalty thereon and the Holding Company has subsequently paid Rs.4.093 lakhs under protest
and an additional amount of Rs.510 lakhs to be paid under protest, which are provided for. The Holding Company has litigated the said notice, which is
pending adjudication. The Holidng Company is reasonably confident of a favourable outcome in respect of the aforesaid matter based on the management’s
evaluation and the legal opinion obtained by the management. Pending ultimate outcome of the matter, no adjustments have been made in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

(iv) The Code on Social Security, 2020 (*Code’) relating ta employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits received Presidential assent
in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on which the Code will come into effect has not been notified
and the final rules/interpretation have not yet been issued. The Group will assess the impact-of the Code when it comes into effect and will record any related
impact in the period the Code becomes effective.

o
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29 Leases

A. Group as Lessee during the year

The Group has taken land parcels on lease for operation/construction of hotel units with a lease period of 25-35 vears with certain
escalation and extension clauses. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessors title to the leased assets.

The Group also has cerain leases with lease terms of 12 months or less. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ recognition exemptions

for these leases.

Set out befow are the carrying amount of right-of-use assets recognised and
movements during the year:

Right of use
assets
(Leaschold land)

Balance as at April 01, 2022 5,258
Additions during the year -
Depreciation during the year (160)
Balance as at March 31, 2023 5,098
Additions during the year 6,000
Depreciation during the year (181)

Balance as at March 31, 2024

Sct out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year:

10,917

Lease liabilities

Balance as at April 01, 2022 6,629
Accretion of interest 692
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (569)
Balance as at March 31, 2023 6,752
Additions during the year 6.000
Accretion of interest 763
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (1,079
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilitics (602)
Balance as at March 31, 2024 11,834

March 31,2024  March 31, 2023

April 01, 2022

Non-eurrent lease liabilites 11.834 6,752 6,629
Current lease liabilities - - -
Total 11,834 6,752 6,629
Statement of profit and loss March 31,2024  March 31, 2023

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 181 160

Interest expense on lease liabilities 763 692

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses under rent) 781 660

Total amount recognised in the statement of profit and loss 1,725 1,512

Statement of cash flows March 31,2024  March 31, 2023

Cash outflow for leases - towards principal 1.079 -

Cash outflow for leases - towards interest 602 569

B. Group as lessor during the year

The Group has entered into cancellable operating leases consisting of certain retail and banquet spaces in the hotels on short term basis with

renewal clauses. The Group is also required to maintain the property over the lease term.

Particulars March 31,2024  March 31, 2023

Lease rentals recognised as an income in the statement of profit and loss 5§32 511

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Particulars March 31,2024  March 31, 2023

Within one year 83 36

Afiter one year but not more than five years - 83

More than five years - -
83 119

\‘ ﬂ
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30 Related party information

1. List of related parties and related pariy relationship with whom transactions have heen entered into:

Holding company Brigade Enterprises Limited ['BEL']

Fellow Subsidiaries WTC Trades & Projects Private Limited ["WTC'] Brigade Hospitality Services Limited ['BHSL]
Orion Property Management Services Limited['OPMSL] Brigade Innovations LLP ['BILLP?]
Perungudi Real Estates Private Limited ['PREPL'] BCV Developers Private Limited [BCV']
Brigade Gujarat Projects Private Limited [BGPPL'] Brigade Properties Private Limited[BPPL]
Brigade Infrastructure and Power Private Limited [BIPPLY] Brigade Flexible Office Spaces LLP [BFOS']
Augusta Club Private Limited ['ACPL] Mysore Holdings Private Limited [MHPLY]
Brigade Estates and Projects Private Limited [BEPPL'] Mysore Projects Private Limited [MPPL’]
Brigade Foundation Trust[BFT] Brigade Tetwarch Private Limited[BTPL]

1L Key Managerial Personnel (" KMP")

Dircctors of Holding Company  Ms. Nirupa Shankar
Mr. Vineet Verma
Mr. Amar Mysore
Mr. Bijou Kurien (w.e.f. March 28, 2024)
Mr. Anup S Shah {w.e.f March 28, 2024)
Ms. Jyoti Narang (w.e.f. May 10, 2024)
Directors of Subsidiary Company Mr. Badri Palaniappan
Ms. Visalakshi
Ms. Susan Mathew

Chief Financial Officer Mr, Anand Natarajan. M

Manager M. Rayan Aranha (w.e.f January 26, 2024)
Mr. Arindam Mukherjee (upto January 25, 2024)

Company Secretary Ms. P Shivaleela Reddy (w.c.fJune 01, 2023)
Ms, Niddhi Parekh (upto April 08, 2023)

Other sharcholder of the subsidiary company
Subramanyam Engineering Limited [ 'SEL]
Mr. Badri Palaniappan
Entities in which the other sharcholders of the subsidiary company exercises controlisignificant influence
SRP Gears Pvt Lid ['SRP Gears]
SRP Taols Pt Ltd ['SRP Tools"]

[1I.  Transactions with related parties

Nature of transaction Name of related party Mareh 31,2024 March 31,2023
Revenue from hospitality services 131 140
Reimbursement of expenses made by the Company 183 2
| Interest on borrowings BEL 1,321 1,127
Purchase of Materials 15 &
Rent paid 597 496
Loan p ds [ refer note V) - 1,500
Purchase of Materials 0 1
Revenue from hospitality services 7 3

: BHSL

Sale of Property, plant and equipment & 444
Reimbursement of expenses made by the Company 138 1
Revenue from hospitality services 9 -
Reimbursement of expenses made by the Company 3 E

Sale of Property, plant and equipment SEL 1
Interest on non-convertible debentures 14 13
Issue of non-convertible debentures - -
Revenue from hospitality services BCV - 1
Revenue from hospitality services - [
Sale of materials/services BPFPL - -
Reimbursement of expenses made by the Company 8 83
Revenue from hospitality services BFOS 1] -
Reimbursement of expenses made by the Company 2 3
Revenue from hospitality services WTC 51 22
Reimbursement of expenses made by the Company 218 184
Rcf:f.-nue from hﬂSPltﬂjlt)' services BGPPL 2 4
Reimbursement of expenses made by the Company 3 -
PREPL 4 9
ACPL - -
BFT 2 -
Revenue from hospitality services LD : Z

MHPL 8

MPPL - "
BTPL - -
Mr. Badri Palaniappan 0 0
SRP Gears 0 0

Ms, Mirupa Shankar - -
Siiting Fees Mz, Susan Mathew 1 |
i E Rayan Aranha = 19 =
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30 Related party disclosure (continued)

Iv. Balances with related parties
Nature of balance Name of related party March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Non-current borrowings 12,297 10,976 9,150
Equity component of interest-free loan 6,750 6,750 6,182
Trade Receivables BEL 15 59 7
Compulsory Convertible Preferance Shares (B Series CCPS) 150 150 150
Trade payables 5 - -
Compulsary Convertible Preferance Shares (A Series and B Series

CCPS) 200 200 200

Debt comy t of co d fi ial instruments (NCD and A SEL
Series NCD) % 131 17 104
Trade receivables 4 - -
WTC . 3 1
BHSL 147 - -
Trade payables PREPL (1] - -
BFOS 1] G o
OPMSL - - 39
BCV - - 6
WTC 29 . "
BHSL [ - |
BTPL - - 1
BILLP 0 - -
BPPL 4 - e
Trade receivables BGPPL I 1 I
BFOS 0 - -
MHPL 2 - -
MPPL - - 1
PREPL - - I
SRP Gears 0 - -
Mr. Badri Palaniappan - 0 0

Notes:
1. The related party transactions are made on tenms equivalent to those that prevail in amm's length transactions. Outstanding balances at the year end are
unsecured and settlement oceurs in cash, There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivable or payable.

2. In respect of the transactions with the related parties, the Holding Company and its subsidiary have complied with the provisiens of Section |88 of the
Companies Act, 2013 where applicable, and the details have been disclosed above, as required by the applicable accounting standards. The provisions of
Section 177 are not applicable to the Holding Company and its subsidiary.

3."0" represents transactions and balances with amounts being less than Rs, 50,000,

V. Other information:

Loan from related parties are unsecured and camries interest of 12% and are repayable from 2025, On July 1, 2020, the Holding Company and its Ultimate
Parent Company entered into an agreement for interest-free unsecured loan of upto Rs.20,000 lakhs and repayable in quarterly instalments of Rs.1,000 lakhs
each from June 2025 to March 2030, The existing loan payable of Rs.11,274 lakhs as on June 30, 2020 (Principal - Rs.9 881 lakhs and Interest payable -
Rs. 1,393 lakhs) was converted into interest-free loan as part of the aforesaid agreement. The Holding Company has drawn loan of Rs.5,016 lakhs during the
period July 27, 2020 to March 31, 2021 and Rs. 1500 lakhs during the period November 29, 2022 1o March 31, 2023. The Holding Company has accounted
the aforesaid loan, being interesi-free in nature, as compound financial instruments in accordance with Ind AS 32 with effective interest rate of 12%.

31 Segment reporting

The Group is engaged in the business of hospitality. The Board of Directors being the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) evaluates the Group's performance
and allocates resources based on an analysis of various performance indicators by industry classes. All operating segments operating results are reviewed regularly by
CODM to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their performance. CODM believes that these are governed by same set of risks
and retums hence, CODM reviews them as one component. Hence, there are no additional disclosures to be provided under Ind-AS 108 — Segment information with
respect to the single reportable segment, other than those already provided in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Further, the Holding Company and
it's subsidiary is domiciled in India and the Group's non-current assets are located in India. There is no identifiable major customer in the Group who is contributing
more than 10% of revenue.
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32  Financial risk management objectives and policics

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise borrowings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s
operations. The Group's principal financial assets include loans, trade, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents that derive directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Groups's senior management oversees the management of these risks and ensures that the
Group’s financial risk activities are govemed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance
with the Group's policies and risk objectives.

i. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, Market risk comprises of
risk: inferest rate risk, curreney risk and price risk.

a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates, The
Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. The Group
manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings.

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity 1o a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The impact on the entity’s
profit/{loss) before tax is affected through the impact of floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Baricilies Change in Effect on
interest rate loss before tax
March 31, 2024 +1% 473
-1% (473)
March 31, 2023 +1% 500
-1% (500)

b) Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's
exposure 10 the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates arises on account of purchases from foreign countries. The Group has not taken any derivative instrument
during the year and there is no derivative instrument outstanding as at the year end,

The Group's unhedged foreign curmency exposure at the end of reporting period is as below:

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Trade Payable 258 384 17

Note: There is no significant exposure to the Group towards foreign exchange fluctuation.

b) Price risk

The Group is affected by the price volatility of certain commodities. The Group's management has developed and enacted a risk management strategy regarding
commodity price risk and its mitigation, The Group is subject to the price risk variables, which are expected to vary in line with the prevailing market conditions.

ii. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments if a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises
majorly from trade receivables/ unbilled revenue and other financial assets.

Other financial assets are bank deposits with banks and hence, the Group does not expect any credit risk with respect to these financial assets.

With respect 1o other financial assets, the Group has constituted teams to review the receivables on periodic basis and to take necessary mitigations, wherever
required. The Group applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of impairment losses on trade receivables and unbilled revenue.
The Group follows the simplified approach for recognition of impairment allowance on trade receivables wherein, it recognises impairment allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. Al the balance sheet date, there was no significant concentration of credit risk and exposure thereon.

iii. Liquidity Risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of borrowings and lease contracts. The Group has
assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low. The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Maturity period March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Financial liabilities - Current

Current borrowings - term loans from banks Within 1 year 8,801 13,368 13,168
Current borrowings - bank overdrafl Repayable on demand 403 2,124 187
Current borrowings - Debentures Within 1 year 54 - "
Trade payables Within 1 year 2,733 3,145 1,892
Other financial liabilities Within | year 3,104 3,292 3,340
Financial liabilities - Non Current
Mon-Current borrowings - term loans from banks Between 1-10 years 44,098 57,484
* Non-Current borrowings - loans from related parties Between 1-10 years 17,790 16,290
Nog ings - Debentures Between 1-10 years 154 154
Between 1-30 years 20,160 20,729
Between [-3 years 206 173
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33

Defined benefit plan - Gratuity

The Group operates defined gratuity plan for its employees. Under the plan. every employee who has completed at least five years of service gels a gratuity on
departure at 15 days of last drawn salary for each completed year of service.

The following tables summarises the components of net benefit expenses recognised in the statement of profit and loss and amount recognised in the balance
sheet with respect to gratuity, The defined benefit plan is unfunded,

Changes in the defined benefit obligation ('"DBO') - Year ended March 31, 2024

Expense charged to profit or Remeasurement (gains)/losses in other comprehensive income
Retuns i phin Actuarial Actuarial 3
Sub-total —;1: cha hanges | Experic- | Sub-total | COniriw-
.| Opening | gy Benefits | (excluding it g T AL mE tions | Closing
Gratuity Service | Interest | included : arising from arising nee included
balance 4 paid amounts & i 3 by balance
cost | expense | in profit : changes in | from changes| adjustm- in
included 5 7 7 employer
or loss . ; demographic | in financial ents oclI
in net interest - N
i assumptions | assumptions
expense)
DBO 106 40 ¥ 47 (12) - 3 3 1 1 - 142
FVoPA - - - - - - . . % 4 -
Net 106 40 7 47 (12) - 3) 3 1 1 - 142
liability
Changes in the defined benefit obligation ("DBO") - Year ended March 31, 2023
Expense charged to profit or Remeasurement (gains)/losses in other comprehensive income
Return 6y plan Actuarial Actuarial 2
assets 5 i 5 Contribu-
. Sub-total y changes changes | Experie- | Sub-total s -
.. | Opening : = Benefits (excluding i i, i tions Closing
Gratuity Service | Interest | included s arising from arising nce included
balance i paid amounts ey : Y by balance
cost expense | in profit ; changes in | from changes| adjustm- in
included v 2 : employer
or loss = 3 demographic | in financial ents OcCI
in net interest n %
assumptions | assumptions
expense)
DBO 106 35 5 40 (17) - (3) (2) (18) (23) - 106
FVoPA - - = = S - “ % s = “ 2
Net 106 35 5 40 (17) - (3) (2) (18) (23) - 106
liability
The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity obligations are shown below:
Particulars March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01,2022
Discount rate 7.11% 7.20% 5.60%
Future salary benefit levels 7.38% 6.50% 6.10%
Martality rate 100% of ITALM 2012-] 100% of IALM 2012-2014 |  100% of IALM 2012-2014
2014
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A guantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions is as shown below:

Particulars

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

Assumptions

Discount Rate

Salary Growth Rate

Discount Rate

Salary Growth Rate

Sensitivity Level -1% + 1% -1% + 1% -1% + 1% -1% + 1%
Impact on DBO 3 (28) (28) 37 28 (19) (19 28
%a change compared to base 26% -20% -20% 26% 26% -18% -18% 26%
due to sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes
in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting peried. The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the

defined benefit obligation.

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation
Weighted average duration (based on on discounted cashflows) - 5 years
The maturity profile of defined benefit obligation is as below:

Particulars March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Within 1 year 40 24
Between 1 and 5 years 70 62
More than 5 years 87 65
Total expected payments 197 151

Valuations are performed on certain basic set of pre-determined assumptions and other regulatory framework which may vary overtime. Thus, the Group is
exposed to various risks in providing the above gratuity benefit, the most significant of which are as follows:

Interest Rate risk : The plan exposes the Group to the risk of fall in interest rates. A fall in interest rates will result in an increase in the ultimate cost of providing
the above benefit and will thus result in an increase in the value of the liability.

Liquidity Risk : This is the risk that the Group is not able to meet the short term gratuity pay-outs. This may arise due to non availability of sufficient cash/cash
equivalents to meet the liabilities.

Salary Escalation Risk | The present value of the defined benefit plan is caleulated with the assumption of salary increase rate of plan participants in future.
Deviation in the rate of increase of salary in future for plan participants from the rate of increase in salary used to determine the present value of obligation will
have a bearing on the plan's liability.

Demographic Risk : The Group has used certain mortality and attrition assumptions in valuation of the lability. The Group is exposed to the risk of actual
experience turning out to be worse compared to the assumption.
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34  Fair values

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current {ransaction between
willing parties. other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

i) The management assessed that the carrying values of cash and bank balances, trade receivables, trade payables, and other financial assets and liabilities
approximate their fair values largely due to their short-term maturities,

ii) The management assessed that the carrying values of bank deposits, borrowings and other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values based
on eash flow discounting using parameters such as interest rates, tenure of instrument. creditworthiness of the customer and the risk characteristics of the

financed project, as applicable.

iii) Also refer note 5 for investments measured at fair value through profit or loss.

These financial assets and financial labilities are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of unobservable inputs as explained
above. There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

Set out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments:

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

April 01, 2022

Particulars Carrying | Fair Value | Carrying Fair Value Carrying Fair Value
Value (Level 3) Value (Level 3) Value (Level 3)
Financial Assets
Measured at amortised cost
Loans - - - - 2 2
Trade receivables 2,176 2176 2,069 2.069 1,255 1,255
Cash and cash equivalents 798 798 776 776 1.178 1,178
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 1228 1,228 2,325 2.325 2.091 2,091
Other financial assets 1,339 1,339 1,042 1,042 804 804
Measured at fair value through profit or loss
Investment 6 6 6 ] 1 1
Financial Liabilities
Measured at amortised cost
Bormrowings 60,119 60,119 63,250 63,250 68.545 68.545
Trade payables 2733 2,733 3,145 3,145 1,892 1,892
Lease liabilities 11,834 11,834 6,752 6,752 6,629 6,629
Other financial liabilities 3,313 3,313 3.498 3,498 3513 3,513

35 Capital management

The Group’s objectives of capital management is to maximize the shareholder value, In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the return to shareholders, issue/ buyback shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes
in economic conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity plus net debt as below.
- Equity includes equity share capital and all other equity components attributable to the equity holders
- Net Debt includes borrowings (non-current and current), trade payables, lease liabilities and other financial liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents and bank

balances other than cash and cash equivalents.

Particulars March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
Borrowings 60,119 63,250 68,545
Trade payables 2,733 3.145 1.892
Lease liabilities 11,834 6.752 6,629
Other financial liabilities 3.313 3,498 3.513
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents (2,026) (3,101) (3.269)
Net Debt (A) 75,973 73,544 77,310
Equity share capital 100 100 100
Instruments entirely equity in nature 28,193 28,193 28,193
Other equity (20,392) (23.513) (23.787)
Equity (B) 7,901 4,780 4,506
Equity plus net debt (C=A+B) 83,874 78,324 81,816
Gearing ratio(D=A/C) 91% 94% 94 %

In order to achieve the objective of maximizing shareholders value, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial
covenants attached to the interest-bearing borrowings that define eapital structure requirements, Any significant breach in meeting the financial covenants would
allow the bank to call borrowings. There have been no breaches in the financial cavenants of above mentioned interest-bearing borrowings.
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36

37

Additional regulatory information not disclosed elsewhere in the financial information
(i) There are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Group for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 988 and rules made thereunder.

(i) The Group does not have any transactions with companies struck ofl under section 248 of Companies Act. 2013 or section 560 of Companies Act.
1956.

(iii) The Group does not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period.
(iv) The Group has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

{v) No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the
Group to or in any other persons or entities, including foreign entities (“'Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or
otherwise, that the Intermediaries shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
by or on behalf of the Group ("Ultimate Beneficiaries') or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

(vi) No funds have been reccived by the Group from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties"), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise. that the company shall, whether, directly or indirectly. lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in
any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Parties {*Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries

(vii) The Group does not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income
during the year in the tax assessments under the Income fax Act. 1961.

(viii) The Group is not a declared Wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or any other lender.

The Group has defined process to take daily back-up of books of account in electronic mode on servers physically located in India. However, the
backup of the books of account and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode with respect to individual hotel units of the Holding
Company has not been maintained on servers physically located in India on daily basis.

Further. the Group has used accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and
the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the accounting software. except that audit trail feature is not enabled
for certain changes made, if any, using privileged/ administrative access rights to the SAP S/4 HANA application and the underlying database and in
respect of individual hotel units of the Holding Company wherein its accounting software did not have the audit trail feature enabled throughout the
year. Further no instance of audit trail feature being tampered with was noted in respect of the accounting software.

The management is taking steps to ensure that the books of account are maintained as required under the applicable statute.

B A ]
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38 Group Information

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group includes a component as detailed helow:

Subsidiary

. P Country of % Eauity i 1d by the G
) Principal activities Incorporation / % Equity interest held by the Group
Name of the entity P
Principal place of
business Muarch 31, 2024  March 31,2023 April 01, 2022
SRP Prosperita Hotel Ventures Limited Hospitality Services India 50.01% 50.01% 50.01%

Financial information of subsidiary that has non-controlling interests:
(i) Summary of assets and liabilities

March 31,2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022

Current assets 859 628 559
Mon-current assets 13.047 12914 14,590
Current liabilities (2.399) (2.831) (2,602)
Non-current liabilities (6,055) (6,516) (8.507)
Total Equity 5,452 4,195 4,040
Attributable to;
Equity holders of the parent 4,255 3.626 3,548
Non-Controlling Interests 1,197 569 492
5,452 4,195 4,040

(ii) Summary of profit and loss

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Total Income 5,925 5235
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,254 151
Total comprehensive income 1,257 135
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 629 78
Non-Controlling Interests 628
1,257 155

(iii) Summary of cash flows

March 31, 2024  March 31, 2023

Net cash flow (used in)/from operating activities 2,175 1,592
Net cash tlow (used in) investing activities (263) 1,149
Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities (2.059) (2.809)
Net cash inflow/ (ouiflow) during the year (147) (68)

39 Additional information to consolidated financial statements based on the audited financial statements of the component of the Group

(i) Net Assets/ (Linbilities)

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 April 01, 2022
As % of As % of As % of
consolidated  Amount consolidated net Amount consolidated net Amount

net assets assets assefs
Parent
Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited 141% 11178 195% 9314 204% 9.195
Subsidiary
SRP Prosperita Hotel Venture Limited 69% 5452 88% 4,195 90% 4,040
Sub total 210% 16,630 283% 13,509 294% 13,235
Elimination and consolidation adjustments -125% (9,926) -195% (9.298) -205% (9.221)
Sub total 85% 6,704 88% 4,211 89% 4,014
Non-controlling interest in the subsidiary 15% 1.197 12% 569 1% 492

Consolidated Total 100% 7,901 100% 4,780 100% 4,506
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(i} Total comprehensive income

For the year ended March 31, 2024

Share in profit/(loss) Share in oﬂ‘mr comprehensive Share in |ofa| comprehensive
income income
o, o,
As % of cunso’l\ir:i'l?l::futh T cunst:?d::ezftolal
Name of the entity consolidated ~ Amount B Amount : Amount
comprehensive comprehensive
Profit or loss 3 h
income income

Parent
Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited 60% 1.860 57% 4 60% 1,864
Subsidiary
SRP Prosperita Hotel Venture Limited 40% 1.254 43% 3 40% 1,257
Sub total 100% 3,114 100% 7 100% 3,121
Elimination and consolidation adjustments -20% (627) -14% (1 -20% (628)
Sub total 80% 2,487 86% 6 80% 2,493
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary:
Share in profit/(loss) 20% 627 14% 1 20% 628
Consolidated Total 100% 3,114 100% 7 100% 3,121
For the year ended March 31, 2023

Share In profit/{loss) Share in otl?cr comprehensive Share in toful comprehensive

income income
o, o,
A% % of consut;afcgfolher consu;:isd;ﬁ:iftota[
Name of the entity consolidated ~ Amount 4 Amount p Amount
B Rpnr s comprehensive comprehensive
: income income

Parent
Brigade Hotel Ventures Limited 149% (460) 3% 11 153% (449)
Subsidiary
SRP Prosperita Hotel Venture Limited -49% 151 27% 4 -53% 155
Sub total 100% (309) 100% 15 100% (294)
Elimination and consolidation adjustments 24% (75) -13% 2) 26% (77)
Sub total 124% (384) 87% 13 126% (371)
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary:
Share in profit/(loss) -24% 75 13% 2 -26% 77
Consolidated Total 100% (309) 100% 15 100% (294)
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40 First Time Adoption

41

For periods up to and including the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company did not prepare its consolidated financial statements since the Holding Company
met the conditions prescribed in Rule 6 to the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended) (the “Accounts Rules"). The statutory standalone financial
statements of theHolding Company for the years ended March 31, 2022 and Mareh 31. 2023 were approved by the Board of Directors of the Halding Company
on April 29, 2022 and May 11, 2023, respectively ("Previous GAAP").

The Holding Company’s securities are in the process of listing on a stock exchange in India and consequently. pursuant to the Accounts Rules, the Holding
Company adopted March 31. 2024 as reporting date for first time adoption of Indian Accounting Standard (Ind-AS) notified under the Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) (the “Ind-AS Rules™) with April 01, 2022 as the transition date for the purpose of preparation of statutory
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2024 in accordance with Ind-AS.

These consolidated financial statements, for the year ended 31 March 2024, are the first consolidated financial statements the Group has prepared in accordance
with Ind AS. Accordingly, the Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements which comply with Ind AS applicable for year ending on March 31,
2024, together with the comparative period as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023, as described in the summary of material accounting policies. In
preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Group's opening balance sheet was prepared as at April 1. 2022, the Group’s date of transition to Ind AS.

1. Exemptions availed:

{a) Ind AS 101 permits a first-time adopter to elect to continue with the carrying value for all of its property, plant and equipment as recognised in the financial
statements as at the date of transition to Ind AS, measured as per the previous GAAP and use that as its deemed cost as at the date of transition afier making
necessary adjustments for de-commissioning liabilities. This exemption can also be used for intangible assels covered by Ind AS 38 Intangible Assets.
Accordingly, the Group has elected to measure all of its praperty. plant and equipment and intangible assets at their previous GAAP carrying value.

(b) Ind AS 101 provides the option to apply Ind AS 103 prospectively from the transition date or from a specific date prior to the transition date. The Group has
clected to apply Ind AS 103 prospectively to business combinations occurring after its transition date.

Use of this exemption means that Business combinations occurring prior to the transition date have not been restated and the Previous GAAP carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities, that are required to be recognised under Ind AS, is their deemed cost at the date of the acquisition. After the date of the acquisition,
measurement is in accordance with respective Ind AS.

11, Exceptions availed:

(a) Ind AS 101 requires an entity's estimates in accordance with Ind ASs at the date of transition to Ind AS to be consistent with estimates made for the same date
m accordance with previous GAAP (afier adjustments to reflect any difference in accounting policies), unless there is objective evidence that those estimates
were in error.

The Group's estimates as at April 01, 2022 arc consistent with the estimates as at the same date made in conformity with previous GAAP The Group made
estimates for following items in accordance with Ind AS at the date of transition as these were not required under previous GAAP

> Investment carned at FVPL or FVOCI, and

> Impairment of financial assets based on expected credit loss model.

(b) Ind AS 101 requires a first-time adopter to apply the de-recognition provisions of Ind AS 109 prospectively for transactions aceurring on or after the date of
transition to Ind AS. The Group has applied the de-recognition provisions of Ind AS 109 prospectively from the date of transition to Ind AS.

() Ind AS 101 reguires an entity to assess classification and measurement of financial assets (investment in debt instruments) on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that exist at the date of transition to Ind AS. The Group has applied the requirement of classification and measurement of financial assets
(investment in debt instruments) as above.

As explained above, there are no consolidated financial statements of the Holding Company for the previous year and the consolidated financial statements as at
and for the year ended March 31, 2024 are the first consolidated financial statements prepared by the Holding Company in accordance with Ind-AS. The Holding
Company’s separale financial statements cannot be considered for the purpose of giving reconciliations in the consolidated financial statements, Since there is no
relevant previous GAAP financial statements from which the Holding Company is transitioning, no reconciliation is required in these consolidated financial
statements on first-time adoption of Ind AS by the Holding Company.

The Group has accumulated losses of Rs. 29,260 lakhs (March 31, 2023: Rs. 31,753 lakhs, April 01,2022; Rs, 31,382 lakhs) and total equity of Rs. 7,901 lakhs
(March 31, 2023: Rs. 4,780 lakhs, April 01, 2022: Rs. 4,506 lakhs). The Group's current liabilities exceed its current assets by Rs. 6,077 lakhs (March 31, 2023:
Rs. 12.256 lakhs, April 01, 2022: Rs. 8,572 lakhs). The Group is in the initial phase of its operations and Brigade Enterprises Limited, the ultimate parent
company, is committed to provide financial and operational support to the Group for its profitable operations in the foreseeable future,
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42 Standards notified but not yet effective

There are no standards that are notified and not yet effective as on the date.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial stalements.
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